
 

 

            

CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA 
 

 

AGENDA 
City Council Meeting 

 
Monday, April 17, 2017 – 7:00 p.m.  

 
City Hall Council Chambers 

5800 Melaleuca Lane 
 

 
 

Mayor and City Council 
 

Joel Flores, Mayor 
 

  Lisa Rivera, Councilwoman   District I 
  Peter A. Noble, Councilman   District II 
  Judith Dugo, Councilwoman   District III 

Vacant, Council Member    District IV 
Paula Bousquet, Councilwoman  District V 
 

Administration 
 

Andrea McCue, City Manager 
James Stokes, City Attorney 

Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
 

Americans with Disabilities Act:  In accordance with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act 

(ADA), this document can be made available in an alternate format (large print) upon request.  Special 
accommodations can be provided upon request with three (3) days advance notice of any meeting, by 
contacting City Clerk Joanna Cunningham at Greenacres City Hall, 5800 Melaleuca Lane, Greenacres, 
Florida. Phone No. 561-642-2006.  Hearing Assistance:  If any person wishes to use a Listen Aid Hearing 
Device, please contact the City Clerk prior to any meeting held in the Council Chambers. 

 

Attention All Lobbyists:  Palm Beach County Code of Ordinances, Article VIII, entitled “Lobbyist 
Registration” requires the registration of all lobbyists prior to engaging in any lobbying activity with the City 
Council, any City Board or Committee, or any employee as defined in the aforementioned Palm Beach 
County Ordinance.  Copies of the Palm Beach County Ordinance are available upon request in the City 
Clerk’s Office. 

 

Web Site:  http://www.ci.greenacres.fl.us 

 
 
 



City Council Meeting Agenda – 4-17-17       Page 2 
 

 

 
 

Agenda 
City Council Meeting 

City Hall Council Chambers 
5800 Melaleuca Lane 

Monday, April 17, 2017 - 7:00 p.m. 

 

Notice:  Any person requesting the appeal of a decision of the City Council will require a verbatim record of 
the proceedings and for that purpose will need to ensure that such verbatim record is made.  Pursuant to 
F.S. 286.0105, the record must include the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.  
The City of Greenacres does not prepare or provide such verbatim record. 

 
1. Call To Order and Roll Call. 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 
 
3. Comments From the Public for Agenda Items Only. 
 
4. Agenda Approval. 
 

A. Additions, deletions, or substitutions to the Agenda. 
B. Motion to approve and adopt entire agenda as set. 
 

5. Special Business. 
  

A. Appointment of District IV Council Member and Oath– James Stokes, 
City Attorney. 
 

B. Presentation: Volunteer Service Awards; pursuant to Staff Memo – Joel 
Flores, Mayor. 

 
C. Presentation: Access Point Project – Denise Negron, Development and 

Outreach Coordinator. 
 
D. Presentation: Recognition of PBSO Deputy Sheriff Jeremy Campbell – 

Captain Sean Murray. 
 
E. PBSO Report: – Captain Sean Murray. 
 

6. Consent Agenda. 
 

A. Motion to Approve Consent Agenda. 
 
1. Official Minutes: City Council Meeting of April 3, 2017 – Joanna 

Cunningham, City Clerk. 
 



City Council Meeting Agenda – 4-17-17       Page 3 
 

 

2. Proclamation: ““Afterschool Appreciation Week” Proclamation – Joel 
Flores, Mayor. 

 
3. Resolution No. 2017-23: Satisfying certain liens imposed against 

resident property, pursuant to Section 15-32; pursuant to Staff Memo 
– James McInnis, Finance Director. 

 
7. Regular Agenda. 
 

A. PUBLIC HEARING Ordinance No. 2017-07: First Reading; Amending the 

City of Greenacres Code of Ordinances, Chapter 7 Health, Sanitation and 
Nuisances, Article II entitled “Property Maintenance”; providing for repeal of 
conflicting ordinances; providing for severability; providing for inclusion in 
code;   and providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo – Michael 
Grimm, Building Director. 

 

B. PUBLIC HEARING Ordinance No. 2017-08: First Reading; Amending 

Article II, Sec. 2-26 and Sec. 2-27, of the Greenacres Code of Ordinances, 
increasing the compensation of the Mayor and members of the City Council; 
providing for a cost of living; providing for certain benefits; providing for 
repeal; providing for severability; providing for inclusion in the code; and 
providing for an effective date.pursuant to Staff Memo. – James Stokes, City 
Attorney. 

 
C. Resolution No. 2017-20: Authorizing the submittal of a Request for 

Proposal to the Palm Beach County Youth Services Department for the 
Leisure Services Youth Programs Division, for funding for Fiscal Year 2018 
for the Cool Zone and Hot Spot programs, and authorizing the appropriate 
city officials to execute and submit the necessary documents; pursuant to 
Staff Memo – Michele Thompson, Leisure Services Director. 

 
D. Resolution No. 2017-22: Authorizing the renaming of Greenacres 

Community Park to Samuel J. Ferreri Community Park, in honor of Former 
Mayor Samuel J. Ferreri’s 35 years of service to the City; and authorizing the 
appropriate City Officials to approve the renaming of Greenacres Community 
Park; and providing an effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo. – Andrea 
McCue, City Manager.   

 
8. Comments from the Public. 
 
9. Discussion Items: 
 

A. None.  
 
10. Staff Comments. 
 
 A. City Manager’s Report. 

1. Building Department Report  
2. Finance Department Report  



City Council Meeting Agenda – 4-17-17       Page 4 
 

 

3. Leisure Services Department Report  
4. Planning & Engineering Department Report  
5. Public Safety Department Report  
6. Public Works Department Report 

 
 B. City Attorney’s Report. 
 
11. Mayor and City Council Reports. 
 
12. Adjournment. 
 

NOTICE OF COUNCIL MEETINGS AND AGENDAS 
The first and third Monday of each month are regular meeting dates for the City Council; special or workshop 
meetings may be called on the second and fourth Mondays of the month, or whenever necessary.  Council 
Agendas are posted on the City’s website on the Friday prior to each Council meeting.  A public copy of the 
complete agenda is also available for review in the City Clerk’s Office at City Hall.  Questions regarding the 
agenda should be directed to the City Clerk at 642-2006. 

 
 

April  2017 - Calendar of Meetings and Events 
 

04-19-17 Planning Commission Meeting 7:00 p.m. 

04-20-17 Charter Review Committee 10:30 a.m. 

04-25-17 Zoning  Board of Adjustments & Appeals Meeting CANCELLED 

04-26-17 “Food Truck Invasion”  Community Park 5:00 p.m. 

 

May  2017 - Calendar of Meetings and Events 

 

05-01-17 City Council Meeting 7:00 p.m. 

05-04-17 Charter Review Committee 10:30 a.m. 

05-10-17 Code Board Meeting 2:00 p.m. 

05-15-17 City Council Meeting 7:00 p.m. 

05-25-17 Zoning  Board of Adjustments & Appeals Meeting Tentative 

05-29-17 Memorial Day Holiday 
Offices 
Closed 

05-31-17 “Food Truck Invasion” Community Park 5:00 p.m. 

 









CITY OF GREENACRES 
Council Agenda Memo 

 
 
TO: Mayor and City Council 

 
FROM: James Stokes, City Attorney 

 
SUBJECT: Selection of Council Member for District IV. 

 
COPIES: Andrea McCue, City Manager 
  Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 

 
DATE: April 17, 2017 
 

 
 

BACKGROUND: 
 
The Charter of the City of Greenacres provides, in pertinent part, for a vacant seat to be 
filled by the remaining members of the City Council as follows: 
 

... Whenever the office of any City Councilman becomes vacant, more 
than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the next annual election for 
that council seat, the remaining members of the City Council shall elect his 
successor for the unexpired term, within thirty (30) days from the 
occurrence of such vacancy. These provisions are intended only to avoid 
special elections to fill vacancies in the elective office and are not to be 
construed as being a substitute for the regular annual election. 

 
Charter, Art. 3, Sec. 3. 
 
Additionally, the Charter provides that in any situation where the vote of the Council 
results in a tie (which is more likely with a vacant seat) that the Mayor shall have the 
power to break that tie.   
 
A vote in the event of a tie vote of any action of the Council; when the Mayor votes to 
break a tie, his vote shall be considered to have the same effect as the vote of a 
member of the City Council, for purposes of required votes; 
 
Charter, Art. 2, Sec. 1(b). 
 
On or about November 22, 2015, Mr. Jonathan Pearce submitted an irrevocable letter of 
resignation for the purpose of running for the Office of Mayor, as required by Section 
99.012, Florida Statutes (Resign-to-Run Statute).  The effective date of Mr. Pearce's 
resignation was March 20, 2017. 



Page 2 

 

 
ANALYSIS: 
 
The Charter requires that, should the City Council desire to fill the vacant seat without 
resorting to a Special Election, it must do so within thirty (30) days of the vacancy.  
Based upon a March 20, 2017 resignation, the thirty days ends on April 19, 2017. 
 
Pursuant to information received from the Office of the City Clerk, Mr. Anderson 
Thelusme is the only qualified individual who applied for the vacant District IV seat by 
the deadline established by the City Council at its March 20, 2017 meeting. 
 
FINANCIAL: 
 
There is no financial impact to this decision 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
None.  This determination falls within the sound discretion of the City Council. 
 







Joel Flores, Mayor 
City of Greenacres 

Certificate of Appreciation 
 

Presented to 
 
 
 

Deputy Sheriff Jeremy Campbell 
                                                  

In recognition of your effort to secure a Community Outreach Grant in the 
amount of $1,700.00 from Walmart for the purchase of 50 car seats for 

Greenacres families in need 
 

CITY OF GREENACRES 



1 
 

       

February 2017 - Monthly Strategic Report 
 

CAD Calls Monthly Totals 

Business / Residence Checks (Self-Initiated) 3059 

Traffic Stops (Self-Initiated) 793 

Calls for Service (Excluding 1050’s & 1061’s) 2068 

All CAD Calls - Total 5920 
Data Source: Crimeview Dashboard 

 

 

Summary: During the month, there were 5920 generated calls within the district. 

65% of these calls were self-initiated.  

 

 

 
Data below represents Traffic Activity conducted by D16 Personnel  

Data Source: D16 Office Staff 
 

Total Citations Total Warnings Parking Citations 

784 253 1 

 

 

Data below represents Traffic Activity conducted by the Motors Unit 
Data Source: D16 Office Staff 

 

Total Citations Total Warnings 

114 110 



2 
 

Arrest and NTA Statistics  
 

Arrest Data                                                                                      

Arrests & Notice to Appear (NTA) within District 16 

Total Count - 81 
Data Source: Crimeview Dashboard 

 

 

DATA ANALYSIS 
 

The data included in this report is charted and graphed to illustrate and compare changes over a 

specific time period. These charts and graphs are utilized to assist in determining crime trends 

and to measure enforcement efforts. This data is utilized in conjunction with other analysis to 

develop directed patrol and various enforcement activities. The analysis included on these pages 

is presented as a brief highlight to explain the salient points of this report. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

0

4

1

4

00

2

0

1

00

2

0

2

0
0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

Homicide Robbery Sexual Assault Shooting Stabbing

D16 Monthly Stats

Homicide, Robbery, Sexual Assault, Shooting, Robbery
Data Source: CAU Data Form

December

January

February



3 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

6

0

9

24
20

16

3
1

14

34

23

18

2
0

14

23

15
13

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Burglary

Business

Burglary

Construction

Burglary

Residence

Burglary

Vehicle

Theft/Larceny Vandalism

D16 Monthly Stats

Burglaries, Theft & Vandalism
Data Source: CAU Data Form

December

January

February



4 
 

 
 

MONTHLY CASE HIGHLIGHTS 
 

Burglary 
 

Business 

 The Diamond and Jewelry Exchange – Three males pulled to rear of business and used a 

sledgehammer to try and break down door. Extensive damage to the door however no entry 

was made.  

 Jumbo Supermarket – Subject/s rammed their vehicle into the front glass. Subjects took the 

ATM machine which contained $1,700 in cash. Video surveillance was recovered.  
 

Detective S21B Updates  

 Detectives are investigating an attempted burglary to the Diamond Jewelry Exchange. 

Suspects attempted to break the business’s thousand dollar rear entry door using a sledge 

hammer in attempts to enter the establishment. The suspects were unaware that the business 

owners had upgraded the door with an internal cross beams system. The last time this location 

was burglarized, it resulted in a loss of over one million dollars causing some of the business 

partners to be forced out of business. Over four (4) hours of surveillance were completed on 

this case and several videos were collected which have been requested. Review of the 

additional footage acquired is pending. The suspect vehicle (a silver Toyota Corolla) was 

observed in several of the plaza videos. 

 

Residential 

 Most active location 

o Incidents on Walker Avenue –occurred between 2/8/17 – 2/11/17. 

  Items taken: iPad, Xbox, gold jewelry, misc. cash/coins 

 Other significant trends/items taken include: 

o SKS Rifle –Case Pending further investigation 

22

113

29

125

35

98

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Hit and Run Motor Vehicle Crash

D16 Monthly Stats

Hit and Run & Motor Vehicle Crash
Data Source: CAU Data Form

December

January

February



5 
 

o 16 Gauge Shotgun- Case pending further investigation  

o Prescription Drugs 

o (5) Incidents entry was gained through a rear sliding door by prying it open with some sort 

of tool. 

o (3) Burglaries had Laptops, TV’s and high-end sneakers stolen. All three cases were on 

same night (2/7/17), but not in the same area.  

 17-040169 & 17-037377: Subject was found to have pawned the stolen items from both 

burglaries. The property recovered was an XBOX and Galaxy Tablet. Case cleared by arrest. 

 17-034099: Subject was found in possession of stolen prescription drugs. Property recovered. 

Case cleared by arrest.  

 17-035130: Subject is known to victim as her ex-husband. Subject forced his way into the 

victim’s residence and proceeded to break items that did not belong to him. Case cleared by 

arrest.  
 

Detective S21R Updates 

 Detectives are investigating a residential burglary where an old SKS rifle was stolen from the 

victim’s closet. In addition to the latent prints collected from inside the residence, several 

neighbors obtained surveillance video of the suspect walking down the street. Copies were 

obtained and a BOLO was forwarded to the Fusion Center to be distributed to neighboring 

districts and agencies. Contact has also been made with the security company and the property 

management company who are also now on the lookout. Case is pending further investigation.   

 17-040169 Sig 21R: Cleared by Arrest 

Detectives investigated a residential burglary at 112 Walker Avenue reference PBSO Case 

Number 17-037377 where suspect Aron Domico was arrested. During the investigation of that 

case it was learned that he was also the suspect of a second burglary to the same residence 

which took place a day prior to the original case. Based on this information a second case was 

generated. The suspect (Aron Domico) was later arrested and confessed to pawning the stolen 

property for a friend. 

 

Vehicle 
 Most Active Communities 

o Pine Grove Townhomes  (3) Incidents 

 Crime spree (3) within the community occurred between 2/7/17 at 18:00 to 2/8/17 at 

07:00.  Windows were smashed in. Cash, Apple iPhone, Apple iPad & misc. change 

were taken. 

o Charter Club (3) Incidents 

 (2) Incidents on 2/22/2017 & (1) incident on 2/27/2017. 

 Items taken: a Sig-Saucer Handgun, misc. change, Ray ban Sunglasses- DNA taken  

 Park Activity 

o 17-040052 & 17-040695: Occurred at Freedom Park on 2/15/17. Subject(s) entered 

vehicle via smashing the window. In both incidents a purse was taken.   

 Other Significant Incidents 

o 17-045195: Subject smashed out window and stole a Springfled XD .45 cal handgun.  

o 17-043295: Subject entered the unlocked vehicle and stole a Taurus handgun and (2) 

loaded magazines from the center console.  

o 17-036402: Subject accessed the rear case of the motorcycle and took a Kel-Tech pellet 

gun. 

 

 



6 
 

 Most Common Method of Entry 

o Unlocked (12) incidents 

o Window smashed (6) incidents 

o Cut Lock (5) incidents 
 

Detective 21V Updates 

 Detectives investigated a series of vehicle burglaries that occurred in the Development of the 

Pine Ridge North Developments. A latent print collected by Road Patrol successfully resulted 

in identifying a suspect and establishing PC from one of the burglaries. The District 16 Street 

Team located and apprehended the male. During a recorded interview, the suspect stated “you 

got what you got…I will not say anything that will incriminate myself”. The suspect was 

transported to the Juvenile Assessment  

 Detectives investigated case 16-139834 Sig 21V, a residential burglary at 345 Martin Avenue 

(Greenacres) in which several tools were stolen from a trailer. During the investigation it was 

discovered that W/F Lynsey I Metz (10/27/93) pawned the stolen tools. A copy of the pawn 

slips were obtained with original fingerprints. These pawn slips were later sent to the lab to 

verify who the prints belonged to. It was later confirmed that the prints belonged to Metz. 

Based on this an arrest warrant was requested for Metz. Detectives were advised on 02/21/17 

that Metz turned herself in at the Palm Beach County Jail for her warrant. This case is closed 

by arrest. 

 

Robbery 
 Victim was approached by a B/M that appeared to be waiting in the bushes of her residence. 

Victim had just returned from a jewelry show in Miami and had $500,000 in jewelry on her 

person. After a brief struggle, suspect gained access to the bag containing jewelry and fled to 

an awaiting white minivan. Case currently open.  

 Victim was inside the Primary Urgent Care Clinic located at 6447 Lake Worth Rd. When she 

returned to her vehicle the suspect/arrestee Tudor Tacorian entered her vehicle and demanded 

that she exit. Victim then exited vehicle and suspect drove off.   The vehicle and suspect were 

later located at a CVS on Ohio Street. Suspect was detained and positively identified. Case 

cleared by arrest.  

 

Shootings 
 Several bullet holes were located at 520 Walker. The projectiles went through a front window 

and lodged in a hallway between two bedrooms. Several casings were found at the front of the 

residence and placed into evidence.  

 A large bullet hole was discovered in the kitchen window at 261 Fleming Avenue. The bullet 

projectile was located on the bathroom floor of the residence and placed into evidence. 

o There does not appear to be a relation to the (2) incidents.  

 

Stolen Vehicle  
 (4) Vehicles reported stolen:  

o 2000 Club Car Stolen from maintenance area of Nautica Isles 

 Incident Location: 5005 Nautica Isles Blvd  

o 2008 Dodge Charger- Friend stole complainant’s vehicle- recovered on a traffic stop- 

Complainant refused to prosecute.  
 Incident Location: Pickwick Park Dr/Dorchester Dr N 

o 2011 VW- Left unlocked. No witnesses.  
 Incident Location: 169 Caribe CT  



7 
 

o 2017 Honda Civic- Male suspect dressed in a Braman Honda Tech uniform with black latex gloves 

entered the vehicle by using a Super OBD device to bypass the key fob for entry. When suspect was 

approached by employees during the act; he fled the scene. Case remains open.  

 Incident Location: Braman Honda 5200 Lake Worth Rd.  

 

Stolen Vehicle Recoveries  
 Total of (3) vehicles recovered.  

o Chevy Tahoe reported stolen from Rental Company was recovered at suspects address (313 

Knotty Pine Cir). Vehicle was returned to rental facility without incident.  

o Toyota Corolla was recovered at Lake Worth Rd & Military Trail as a suspicious vehicle 

with the windows down and unoccupied. Owner was contacted and vehicle was towed.   

o Acura TSX was recovered at Publix at 4849 S Military Trail. Vehicle was towed and owner 

was contacted. 

 

Larceny/Theft 
 An employee from McDonalds located at 6581 Forest Hill Blvd. had their wallet taken from 

inside the break room. One subject was questioned, but denied involvement. Case is Inactive.  

 Subject positively identified and arrested for stealing a parked bicycle from McDonalds 

located at 6581 Forest Hill Blvd. Case cleared by arrest.  

 Victim reported leaving her prescription medication on the pharmacy counter with a tech so 

she could retrieve an item from the store. Suspect is seen on CCTV redirecting the tech to the 

photo kiosk and then takes the medication. Suspect was also seen using the ATM machine 

inside the store prior to leaving. A message was left with the ATM company for video and 

information on identity.   

 Exterior A/C Unit was taken from 4624 Lake Worth Rd, Aloha Plaza. There are no cameras 

and no witnesses to the incident.  

 

Vandalism 
 Damage caused to playground at Rambo Park.  CCTV was not working at time of the 

incident. Case is pending.  

 Suspect began to bang on residence windows, causing $1000 in damage. Complainant does 

not want to prosecute.  

 Naurica Isles HOA reported an unknown person drove through the flower patch at the front of 

complex and also ran into the guard gate. Case is pending.  

 (4) Incidents reported were for damage of vehicles. There does not appear to be a relation to 

the incidents.  

 

District Activity/Incidents/Initiatives 
 

Street Team 
 The District 16 Street Team conducted a Semi-Annual SPOT Sweep on sexual offenders 

located within the City of Greenacres. 

 The District 16 Street Team located and apprehended an armed carjacker. Apprehended the 

individual as well as recovering the vehicle without incident. 

 The District 16 Street Team conducted a traffic stop and probable cause was established to 

search the vehicle. The driver (sole occupant) of the vehicle was arrested and charged with 

Possession of Marijuana <20 grams, Driving while license suspended with knowledge, and 

Possession of Heroin with the Intent to Sell (2.5g). 



8 
 

 The District 16 Street Team conducted a traffic stop and probable cause was established to 

search the vehicle. The driver (sole occupant) of the vehicle was arrested and charged with 

Trafficking in Cocaine, Possession of Marijuana with Intent, and Possession of Schedule 2. 

 

Detectives 
 District 16 Detectives continue to assist Road Patrol in an area where multiple auto burglaries 

were reported and approximately ten (10) Field Interview Reports (FIR’s) were completed. 

 District 16 Detectives investigated a residential burglary and in the process learned that the 

suspect was also a suspect of a second burglary to the same residence which took place a day 

prior to the original case. The suspect was arrested. 
 District 16 Detectives investigated a residential burglary where several tools were stolen 

from a trailer. During the investigations it was the suspect pawned the stolen tools. Suspect 

turned herself in and this case is closed by arrest. 

 

Other 
 Traffic initiative operations were held on 02/07/17, 02/17/17, and 02/23/17.  

 

Field Interview Reports: 174 conducted per the FIR Track system. 

District 16 Truants: 37 per the monthly stat spreadsheet. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



9 
 

District 16 Map of Activity 
 Data: Source: Crimeview Dashboard  

 

Person Crimes

 
 

 



10 
 

Burglaries 

 
 

 

 



11 
 

Theft & Vandalism 

 
 

 



12 
 

Stolen Vehicles                                                  

 
 

 

 

 

 



13 
 

Recovered Vehicles      

 
 

 



14 
 

FIR MAP  
150 Records  

Data Source: Crimeview Dashboard  

                                                    



 

 
 

OFFICIAL MINUTES 
 

CITY OF GREENACRES 
5800 Melaleuca Lane 

Greenacres, FL  33463 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
Monday, APRIL 3, 2017 - 7:00 P.M. 

 

1. Call To Order and Roll Call. 
 

Mayor Flores called the City Council Meeting of Monday, April 3, 2017 to order at 7:00 p.m.  City 
Clerk Joanna Cunningham called the roll. 
 
ROLL CALL: 

 
Council Present: Staff Present: 
   Joel Flores, Mayor    Andrea McCue, City Manager 
   Lisa Rivera, Councilwoman    James D. Stokes, City Attorney 
   Peter A. Noble, Councilman    Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
   Judith Dugo, Councilwoman    Michael Grimm, Director/Building 
   Paula Bousquet, Councilwoman    Jim McInnis, Director/Finance 
    Michele Thompson, Director/Leisure Services 
Attendees from Public: 14    Kara Ferris, Acting Director/Planning & Engineering 
Press:  1    Mark Pure, Fire Chief/Fire Rescue Department 
    Suzanne Skidmore, Director/Human Resources 
    Carlos Cedeño, Director/Public Works 
    Melody Larson, Assistant to the City Clerk 

 
2. Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 

 
Mayor Joel Flores led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
3. Comments From the Public for Agenda Items Only. 
 

Mayor Flores asked if there were comments from the public; hearing none, he continued 
with the Agenda. 

 
4. Agenda Approval. 
  

A. Additions, deletions, or substitutions to the Agenda. 
B. Motion to approve and adopt entire agenda as set. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 2 

Mayor Flores inquired if there were any additions, deletions or substitutions to the 
Agenda.  Councilwoman Rivera requested to move Agenda Item 7A, “Designation of 
Deputy Mayor” to Discussion Items. 
 

MOTION: Councilman Noble moved to keep the Agenda as is, seconded by 

Councilwoman Bousquet. 

 
  
 Discussion on the Motion: 
 
 Councilwoman Rivera explained that Item 7A is not being removed, but rather 

being placed under Discussion Items.  Councilwoman Dugo asked for clarification.  
Councilwoman Rivera asked the City Attorney if discussion items can be voted on.   

 
 City Attorney James Stokes explained Council can vote on discussion items if they 

so desire.  He further explained items can be moved, deferred, stricken, etc. 
  

SUBSTITUTE 

MOTION 

Councilwoman Rivera made a motion to move Agenda Item 

7A “Designation of Deputy Mayor” to Discussion Items. 

Councilwoman Dugo seconded the motion. 
 

VOTE ON  

THE MOTION: 

In Favor: Councilwoman Rivera and Councilwoman Dugo.  

Opposed:  Councilman Noble and Councilwoman 
Bousquet.   
 

 Motion tied:  2 - 2.  Mayor Flores broke the tie and 

suggested keeping Agenda Item 7A on the Agenda as 

is. 

 

MOTION: Councilman Noble moved to keep the Agenda as is, 

seconded by Councilwoman Bousquet. 

 

VOTE ON  

THE MOTION: 

In Favor: Councilman Noble, Councilwoman Dugo and 

Councilwoman Bousquet. 

Opposed:  Councilwoman Rivera.   

 

 Motion carried:  3 – 1. 

 
5. Special Business.  
 

A.      Proclamation: “Autism Awareness Month” for April 2017 – Joel Flores, Mayor 
 
 City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read the proclamation into the record. 
  

Mayor Flores called for a motion to accept the proclamation. 
 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 3 

VOTE ON  

THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Councilwoman Rivera, Councilman Noble, 
Councilwoman Dugo, and Councilwoman Bousquet.  
  

 Motion carried: 4 - 0. 

 
B.      Proclamation: “National Volunteer Month” for April 2017 – Joel Flores, Mayor 

 
 City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read the proclamation into the record. 
  

Mayor Flores called for a motion to accept the proclamation. 

VOTE ON  

THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Councilwoman Rivera, Councilman Noble, 
Councilwoman Dugo, and Councilwoman Bousquet.  
  

 Motion carried: 4 - 0. 

 
6. Consent Agenda. 
 

A. Mayor Flores asked Council if they wished to pull any of the seven (7) Consent 
Agenda items; hearing none, he called for a motion. 

 
1.   Official Minutes: City Council Meeting of March 6, 2017 – Joanna 

Cunningham, City Clerk.  
 
2.  Official Minutes: City Council Meeting of March 20, 2017 – Joanna 

Cunningham, City Clerk. 
 
3.  Proclamation: “Arbor Day” for April 28, 2017 – Joel Flores, Mayor.  
 
4. Proclamation: “Safe Digging Month” for April 2017 – Joel Flores, Mayor.  
 
5. Proclamation: “Water Conservation Month” for April 2017 – Joel Flores, 

Mayor. 
 
6. Proclamation: “Water Professionals Month” for April 2017 – Joel Flores, 

Mayor.  
 
7. Resolution No. 2017-13: Authorizing the submittal of a change in 

approved equipment purchase with the FY 2016 Justice Assistance Grant 

MOTION: Councilwoman Bousquet made a motion to accept the 

proclamation and proclaim April as Autism Awareness 

Month. Councilman Noble seconded the motion. 

 

MOTION: Councilwoman Rivera made a motion to accept the 

proclamation and proclaim April as National Volunteer 

Month. Councilwoman Dugo seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 4 

(JAG) Program Funds, the U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice 
Programs, Bureau of Justice Assistance and authorizing the City Manager 
to sign all change of equipment documents; pursuant to Staff memo. - 
James McInnis, Finance Director. 

 

VOTE ON  

THE MOTION: 

In Favor: Councilwoman Rivera, Councilman 

Noble, Councilwoman Dugo, and 

Councilwoman Bousquet.   

 

 Motion carried: 4 - 0. 

 

7. Regular Agenda: 
 

A.  Designation of Deputy Mayor: Andrea McCue, City Manager. 
 

City Manager Andrea McCue noted that Council Policy 12 was established in 1997 
and outlined the process for designating a deputy mayor.  It provided a term for 
appointment, it established eligibility, and gave the Mayor the ability to appoint a 
Council member that met the criteria.  Council Policy 12 was rescinded in April 
2016, requiring the designation to be pursuant to the City Charter.  City Manager 
McCue noted that the Charter does not provide any criteria for selecting a deputy 
mayor; it only states that one shall be appointed.   
 
Mayor Flores expressed surprise to learn that the City did not have a policy in place 
for the appointment of a deputy mayor.  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 Discussion on the Motion: 

 
Councilwoman Dugo recalled former Mayor Ferreri expressing his desire 
to have Council make the selection instead of the Mayor designating an 
appointee. 

  
 Councilwoman Rivera asked Councilmembers who, if anyone, had served 

previously as Deputy Mayor.   
 
 Councilman Noble noted that he had served in the past, Councilwoman 

Bousquet had not served before, nor had Councilwoman Dugo.   
 
 Councilwoman Rivera asked Councilwoman Bousquet if she accepted the 

appointment. 

MOTION: Councilwoman Bousquet made a motion to approve 

the seven (7) Consent Agenda items.  Councilwoman 

Rivera seconded the motion.   

 

MOTION: Councilman Noble made a motion to appoint Paula 

Bousquet as Deputy Mayor.  Councilwoman Bousquet 

seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 5 

   
 Councilwoman Bousquet accepted the appointment. 

 

VOTE ON  

THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Councilwoman Rivera, Councilman Noble, 
Councilwoman Dugo, and Councilwoman Bousquet.  
  

 Motion carried: 4 - 0. 

 
B. Receive and File: Presentation of FY 2017 Comprehensive Annual Financial 

Report (CAFR) by Auditing Firm of Nowlen, Holt and Miner, P.A.  – James McInnis, 
Finance Director.  
 
Finance Director Jim McInnis introduced Ron Bennett, auditor for Nolan, Holt and 
Miner who would be presenting the C.A.F.R.  
 
Mr. Bennett, congratulated the Finance Department for an excellent job, noting that 
this was his 17th consecutive year in presenting the City’s CAFR.  He explained 
the purpose of an audit is to determine that the City’s financial statements are in 
accordance with generally accepted government accounting principles. He 
reported that the City complied with investment policies governed by state statutes.  
One minor finding related to credit cards was found and addressed with new policy 
implementation by management.  He reviewed the various reports, summaries, 
trend analysis, fiduciary funds, revenues, expenditures, capital outlay, and 
unassigned reserves.  He discussed the changes in the percentages of reserves 
required and the City’s Fund Balance Policy of maintaining 25% of General Fund 
expenditures.  Mr. Bennett noted the decrease of $2.9 million in the General Fund 
Balance resulting from a transfer of $4.3 million from the General Fund to the 
Capital Projects Fund to carry out major capital improvement projects.  He thanked 
the Mayor and Council for allowing his firm to continue working with the City and 
looked forward to continuing the relationship. 
 
Director McInnis reported on the careful monitoring of the fund balance throughout 
the fiscal year ensuring that at least 25% of General Fund expenditures are 
maintained in the Unassigned Reserves. He reported that the $4.3 million transfer 
was due to the renovations of the Community Center which were completed 
without incurring new debt; it was a planned expenditure. 
 
Mayor Flores called on Council members for comments. 
 
Councilwoman Rivera disclosed a 2-hour discussion with Director McInnis 
regarding the following: 
 
1) Net Pension Assets on Pg. 14 of the CAFR of $890,784 and on Pg. 59 Public 

Safety Pension Plan.  She asked if the pension plan is funded over 100%? 
 

Director McInnis said yes, noting the actuarial valuation is somewhat higher; it 
is still over 100%, making it an asset, not a liability. 
 

2) Is the $903,563 operating surplus shown on Pg. 18, for the FY 2016 correct? 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 6 

3) She asked if the Fund Balance decrease of $2,423,510 from FY 2016 was 
related to a one-time transfer of $2.1 million for the Community Center 
renovation.   
 
Director McInnis confirmed that it was. 

 
4)  Councilwoman Rivera noted that the City had an operating surplus of $1 

million and now has $11.9 million.   
 

5) Councilwoman Rivera asked for the total in the Emergency and Disaster Fund.  
 

Director McInnis referred her to Pg. 16, at $10 million.   
 

6) She questioned the Compensated Absence Reserve.   
 

Director McInnis explained that this reserve changes every year based on 
calculations for accrued vacation and sick leave payout hours.  In the following 
year it is paid out in regular salary, and a reserve is maintained. 

 
7) Net Pension Liability (FRS Pension) – Councilwoman Rivera refrained. 

 
Councilman Noble asked if the City contributes to the FRS Pension fund.  He noted 
that this is for a limited number of employees. 
 
Director McInnis said yes, a percentage of payroll is determined by FRS.  Last year, 
$1.2 million was contributed by the City.  He explained that any employee hired before 
1996 is grandfathered into the Plan.  He explained that the plan is currently 84% 
funded and noted that it is common for these types of funds to be underfunded.  
 
Mr. Bennett explained that the City has 3 pension plans with FRS, one is a defined 
contribution plan, the other 2 are defined benefit plans. $195,653 went to the FRS 
pension plan, $24,000 to health insurance subsidy program.   
 
Director McInnis apologized for the discrepancy.  It is $195,653, not $1.2 million funded 
as previously mentined. 
 
Councilwoman Rivera asked when Council will receive an update for FY 2018 on the 
fund balance for subsequent year expenditures of $1,210,903 since we are currently 
in the middle of the fiscal year.   
 
Director McInnis explained that the projected deficit of $1,210,903 is what the City 
expected to expend in FY 2017; it is currently at $880,000  which is less than originally 
projected. 
 
Councilwoman Rivera asked if the City was under or overfunded for capital 
improvement projects. 
 
City Manager McCue reported “under”.  Some projects are being moved to surtax 
dollars. 
 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 7 

Councilwoman Rivera wanted to know if it would be fair to say that the City will have 
a surplus due to the surtax funds? 
 
Director McInnis explained that it is expected that more surtax monies will be received 
than utilized for FY 2017.  The PBC League of Cities has not yet approved the list of 
projects identified.  Once approved, Council will be presented with a budget request. 
 
Councilwoman Rivera thanked staff and Council for being fiscally responsible. 
 
Mayor Flores called for a motion. 

VOTE ON  

THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Councilwoman Rivera, Councilman Noble, 
Councilwoman Dugo, and Councilwoman Bousquet.  
  

 Motion carried: 4 - 0. 
 

C. PUBLIC HEARING SE-16-04: Resolution No. 2017-11: Approving the 

application for a Special Exception to allow a drive-thru fast food restaurant in a 
Commercial Intensive (CI) Zoning District, located at 5900 Lake Worth Road, as 
requested by the petitioner, Thomas Engineering Group, agent for the owner, 
Target Corporation; providing for repeal of conflicting resolutions; and providing for 
an effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff Report. – Kara L. Irwin-Ferris, 
Planning and Engineering Director. 

 
Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk, read Resolution No. 2017-11 into the record. 
 
Planning and Engineering Director Kara L. Irwin-Ferris described the request to 
allow a drive-thru fast food restaurant (Zaxby’s Restaurant) in the northeast corner 
of the Target site.  She gave a brief history of the Target building and the two 
outparcels.  The Target retail store and garden center were built in 1998.   
 
Director Ferris noted that a second special exception request and a site plan 
amendment are being processed concurrently with this request.  She provided a 
concept plan, reviewed cueing and access.  She stated the proposal meets the 
twelve (12) special exception criteria and the Planning Commission recommended 
approval of this proposal on March 15, 2017.  Therefore, staff recommends 
approval of SE-16-04 through the adoption of Resolution 2017-11, subject to staff’s 
six (6) conditions of approval. 
 
Mayor Flores called on Council members for comments. 
 
Councilman Noble questioned where does traffic exit the site and if the site would 
have its own dedicated turning lane off of Lake Worth Road. 
 
Director Ferris noted that the site would use the same access points off Lake Worth 
Road or Sherwood Forest Boulevard.  Patrons can enter to the east and exist to 
the west. 

MOTION: Councilman Noble made a motion to Receive and File the FY 

2016 C.A.F.R.  Councilwoman Dugo seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 8 

 
Councilwoman Dugo asked about indoor seating and the hours of operation. 
 
Director Ferris reported the special exception approval is for 90 seats based on thr 
square footage and the hours of operation for the drive-thru will be from 10:30 am 
– 10:30 pm (Sunday-Thursday) and 10:30 am – 11:00 pm (Friday-Saturday).  
 
Councilwoman Rivera asked about the patrons crossing from Target to McDonalds 
and signage.   
 
Director Ferris explained that Sherwood Forest Boulevard has a controlled 
intersection.  Regarding signage, the proposal will adhere to the City’s Sign Code.  
 
Mayor Flores questioned the landscaping. 
 
Director Ferris reported that the existing buffers and perimeter landscaping for the 
entire site will be updated following inspections.   
 
Mayor Flores called on Council members for comments; hearing none, he opened 
the meeting to the public.  He asked if anyone was in favor of, or opposed to, 
Resolution No. 2017-11 to come forward.  Seeing no one come forward, he closed 
the meeting to the public and called for a motion.  

VOTE ON  

THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Councilwoman Rivera, Councilman Noble, 
Councilwoman Dugo, and Councilwoman Bousquet.  
  

 Motion carried: 4 - 0. 

 

D. PUBLIC HEARING SE-16-05: Resolution No. 2017-12: Approving the 

application for a Special Exception to allow a tire store in a Commercial Intensive 
(CI) Zoning District, located at 5900 Lake Worth Road, as requested by the 
petitioner, Thomas Engineering Group, agent for the owner, Target Corporation; 
providing for repeal of conflicting resolutions; and providing for an effective date; 
pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff Report. - Kara L. Irwin Ferris, Planning and 
Engineering Director. 

 
Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk, read Resolution No. 2017-12 into the record. 
 
Director Ferris described the second special exception request for a discount tire 
store to be located in the northwest corner of the Target site. The proposal is a 
permitted use in the Commercial Intensive (CI) zoning district.  Director Ferris 
provided a brief history of the Target site.  She stated the proposal meets the 
twelve (12) special exception criteria and the Planning Commission recommended 
approval on March 15, 2017; therefore, staff recommends approval of SE-16-05 

MOTION: Councilwoman Rivera made a motion to approve 

Resolution 2017-11 (Zaxby’s), subject to staff’s six (6) 

conditions of approval.  Councilwoman Bousquet 

seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 9 

through adoption of Resolution 2017-12, subject to staff’s six (6) conditions of 
approval. 
 
Mayor Flores called on Council members for comments. 
 
Council members were concerned with traffic flow, backups, the type of business 
being permitted, the number of nearby tire businesses, number of bays, and the 
parking area looking unattractive.  
 
Mayor Flores called on the applicant for clarification on the type of business being 
proposed. 
 
Angelina Rosenburg of Thomas Engineering, agent for the owner, explained that 
three bays are being proposed and the type of business will consist of tire sales, 
tire replacement and alignments, no oil changes or sale of windshield wipers.   
 
Mayor Flores called on Council members for comments; hearing none, he opened 
the meeting to the public.  He asked if anyone was in favor of, or opposed to, 
Resolution No. 2017-12 to come forward.   
 
Resident Jose Rendon stated that with three other tire business in the surrounding 
area, he was concerned with additional repair work being done at the proposed 
location.  
 
Seeing no one come forward, Mayor Flores closed the meeting to the public and 
called for a motion. 

VOTE ON  

THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Councilwoman Rivera, Councilman Noble, 
Councilwoman Dugo, and Councilwoman Bousquet.  
  

 Motion carried: 4 - 0. 

 
E. Site Plan Amendment (SP-96-01C): Site Plan Amendment for the Target located 

at 5900 Lake Worth Road; pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff Report – Kara L. 
Irwin-Ferris, Planning and Engineering Director. 

 
Director Ferris described the accompanying request for a site plan amendment to 
the Target site located at 5900 Lake Worth Road.  The site was approved in 1996 
as a retail store, garden center and two outparcels.  In 1998, the Target building 
and garden center were built; however, the outparcels remained undeveloped.  In 
2008 and in 2013, variances were granted to reduce the required number of 
parking spaces, however, the accompanying site plan amendments for the 
outparcels expired and the requests were withdrawn.  This proposal is to develop 
the two outparcels into a discount tire store and a fast food drive-thru restaurant 
(Zaxby’s).  On March 7, 2017, the Zoning Board of Adjustments and Appeals 

MOTION: Councilwoman Dugo made a motion to approve Resolution 

2017-12, subject to staff’s six (6) conditions of approval.  

Councilwoman Bousquet seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 10 

granted a variance to reduce the total number of parking spaces from 696 to 609 
for the site.   
Director Ferris reviewed the site plan amendment details for ingress/egress, 
elevations, architectural details, dumpster area, seating, landscaping, lighting, 
paving, drainage, water and sewer.  She stated staff recommends approval of SP-
96-01C, subject to staff’s thirty (30) conditions of approval. 
 
Mayor Flores called on Council members for comments. 
 
Council members questioned ownership, future sale of the outparcels, future 
violations and notices of violations.  
 
Director Ferris explained that the site will be replatted and will function as one site 
in spite of ownership. 
 
City Attorney Stokes pointed out that approvals attach to the property. 
 
Mayor Flores called for a motion. 

VOTE ON  

THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Councilwoman Rivera, Councilman Noble, 
Councilwoman Dugo, and Councilwoman Bousquet.  
  

 Motion carried: 4 - 0. 

 
F. Resolution No. 2017-16:  Abandoning and vacating a 10’ utility easement within 

a corner clip dedication area located on the northeast corner of Melaleuca Lane 
and South Haverhill Road, as recorded on Palm Beach Villas II Plat Book 31 Page 
54 of the Official Records of Palm Beach County, Florida, as requested by Palm 
Beach County; providing for repeal of conflicting resolutions; providing for 
severability; and providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff 
Report. - Kara L. Irwin Ferris, Planning and Engineering Director. 

 
Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk, read Resolution No. 2017-16 into the record. 
 
Director Ferris described the abandonment of a 10 ft. utility easement located on 
the northeast corner of South Haverhill Road and Melaleuca Lane to accommodate 
the South Haverhill Road widening.  The City dedicated a northeast corner clip to 
the County on January 5, 2015, through Resolution 2015-01.  The clip included 
this 10 ft. utility easement that was moved as approved on June 20, 2016 through 
Resolution 2016-25, recorded in ORB 28433/1652.  The County is now requesting 
that the City vacate the 10 ft. easement.  Director Ferris confirmed receiving 
agency letters of no objection; therefore, staff recommends approval of AB-17-01 
through the adoption of Resolution 2017-16. 
 

MOTION: Councilman Noble made a motion to approve SP-96-01C 

(Target-Discount Tire Store and Zaxby’s), subject to staff’s 

thirty (30) conditions of approval.  Councilwoman Dugo 

seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 11 

Mayor Flores called on Council members for comments; hearing none, he called 
for a motion. 
 

 

VOTE ON  

THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Councilwoman Rivera, Councilman Noble, 
Councilwoman Dugo, and Councilwoman Bousquet.  
  

 Motion carried: 4 - 0. 

 
G. Appointment to MPO – Appoint one designated representative and one alternate 

representative to the MPO; pursuant to Staff Memo – Andrea McCue, City 
Manager.  

 
City Manager McCue reported that Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO), 
consists of 21 voting members (elected officials) pursuant to the interlocal 
agreement with the Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO). The City of 
Greenacres provides one representative and one alternate to serve on the MPO.  
The Mayor and Deputy Mayor served as the representative and alternate.  A 
representative and an alternate must be appointed and the MPO notified by April 
20, 2017. 
 
Mayor Flores called on Council members for comments. 
 
Councilman Noble asked for the City Manager’s recommendation. 
 
City Manager McCue noted that past practice has been the Mayor and Deputy 
Mayor. 
 
Councilwoman Bousquet asked how frequent are the MPO meetings.  When she 
learned they were monthly, she noted this would pose a problem for her since she 
works.  

VOTE ON  

THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Councilwoman Rivera, Councilman Noble, 
Councilwoman Dugo, and Councilwoman Bousquet.  
  

 Motion carried: 4 - 0. 

 

MOTION: Councilman Noble made a motion to approve Resolution 

2017-16 (AB-17-01) as presented.  Councilwoman Rivera 

seconded the motion. 

 

MOTION: Councilwoman Bousquet made a motion to appoint Mayor 

Joel Flores as the MPO representative.  Councilwoman 

Dugo seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 12 

VOTE ON  

THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Councilwoman Rivera, Councilman Noble, 
Councilwoman Dugo, and Councilwoman Bousquet.  
  

 Motion carried: 4 - 0. 

 
H. League of Cities Voting Delegate and Alternate Delegate – pursuant to Staff 

Memo – Andrea McCue, City Manager. 
 

City Manager McCue reported that pursuant to Art 4 of the League of Cities’ 
bylaws, voting delegates and alternates are designated annually to attend the 
general meetings on the fourth Wednesday of each month.  Designations must be 
made prior to April 21, 2017.   
 
Mayor Flores called on Council members for comments. 
 

 
  
  
  
  
   
   Discussion on the Motion: 
 

Councilman Noble pointed out that the Board of Directors meetings are 
held at 10:00 am.  And being that he currently serves on the Board, he 
agreed to support the appointment of Councilwoman Dugo if she believed 
she could attend the meetings, if not, he suggested she serve as Alternate. 
 
Councilwoman Dugo agreed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8. Comments from the Public.   
 
 Jennifer Blanchette, fourth generation resident of the Original Section, voiced her 

concerns over speeding on Swain Boulevard and First Street, Second Street, Biscayne 
Drive and Fourth Street especially during the hours of 7:30 -9:00 am and 2:00 -4:00 pm.  
She noted that there are many children and requested the installation of 4-way stop signs 

MOTION: Councilwoman Rivera made a motion to appoint Councilman 

Noble as the MPO Alternate.  Councilwoman Bousquet 

seconded the motion. 

 

MOTION: Councilwoman Rivera nominated Councilwoman Dugo as 

voting delegate. Councilwoman Bousquet seconded the 

motion. 

 

MOTION TO 

AMEND: 

Councilwoman Rivera moved to amend her motion and 
appointed Councilman Noble as Voting Delegate and 
Councilwoman Dugo as Alternate 
. 

VOTE ON  

THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Councilwoman Rivera, Councilman Noble, 
Councilwoman Dugo, and Councilwoman Bousquet.  
  

 Motion carried: 4 - 0. 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 13 

at major intersections on Swain Boulevard and speed bumps.  She also requested 
additional police presence. 

 
 Councilwoman Rivera noted that this is a reoccurring problem in this area, noting that a 

death occurred there due to speeding and running a stop sign.  She had previously 
requested speed signs, rumble traffic strips, or a speed trailer.  She was now requesting 
traffic data from PBSO and the City Manager. 

 
PBSO Lt. Moore offered to place a speed trailer on Swain Boulevard to collect data for 
PBSO to work with and enforce.   

 
Mrs. Blanchette added that parking on Sundays in the church swales is also creating 
visibility problems for neighborhood drivers crossing First Street and Swain Boulevard.   
 
Councilwoman Bousquet thought this issue had been addressed by PBSO a year earlier.   
 
Councilwoman Dugo instructed Lt. Moore to install the speed trailer the next day and 
asked that the traffic statistics collected by PBSO be presented to Council at the April 7th 
City Council meeting.  She asked Director Ferris if a traffic study would be required prior 
to implementing any calming devices. 
 
Director Ferris noted there is a department policy that addresses traffic calming devices.  
A study by a traffic engineer would be needed. 
 
Councilman Noble pointed out that the Villages of Woodlake have a permanent speed 
sign on Woodlake Boulevard entering their community.   
 
Mayor Flores thanked Mrs. Blanchett for informing Council of this matter and suggested 
that the City Manager gather pertinent information and provide options to present to 
Council for consideration, similar to what was done with Rambo Park. 

  
9. Discussion Items:   
  

A. Mayor and Council Salary Discussion – James Stokes City Attorney.  
 

City Attorney Stokes reported that prior to the 2017 municipal election, both him and 
the City Manager prepared a salary survey of surrounding municipalities that showed 
Greenacres at the low end.  With no salary increases in the past 18 years, staff 
proposed to raise the Mayor and Council salaries comparable to what other cities were 
paying.  A draft ordinance was prepared; however, this topic was deferred by Council 
until after the election.  He noted that salary and benefits were lumped together instead 
of separating the two items. 
 
Mayor Flores called on Council members for comments. 
 
Councilwoman Bousquet thought Council had voted this down and pointed out that  
the City’s budget is much lower than those cities being compared. 
 
Councilwoman Dugo noted that one of her concerns is that Council salaries had not 
been raised in 18 years.  She wanted to see Council members paid equitably and 
wanted to see a cafeteria-style option.   



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 14 

 
Councilman Noble stated that Council should keep the expense and benefit portions 
separate.  As for the cafeteria option, it will create other problems for the City to do so.  
Councilwoman Dugo receives health insurance elsewhere, whereas there are other 
Council members that receive their health insurance through the City.  It was his belief 
that Councilwoman Dugo wanted the portion paid for medical insurance to be paid to 
her. 
 
Councilwoman Dugo said she wanted to take the portion paid to health insurance and 
invest it in a retirement plan. 
 
Council members discussed cafeteria-style compensation, the amount used by 
Council for campaigning and adding a Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA) for Council.   
 
Mayor Flores asked City Attorney Stokes for the salaries previously proposed and 
asked if it included a cafeteria-style compensation plan. 
 
City Attorney Stokes explained that the proposed salary for Mayor was $21,000 and 
$19,000 for Council members (combined benefits).  He offered to re-write the 
Ordinance to include a COLA.  To offer a cafeteria-style compensation plan, staff 
would need to amend the employee benefit policy. 
 
City Manager McCue reported that there is an “opt out” clause as part of the employee 
compensation plan. If the employee can show coverage elsewhere; it pays up to 
$2,000 annually, paid out monthly.  She noted that the policy would require amending 
to add elected officials.   
 
Discussion followed on Greenacres falling mid-range in salaries county-wide; adopting 
the ordinance in two parts; approving a COLA for Council; Greenacres has one of the 
lowest tax rates in the County and Greenacres elected officials are very conscientious 
of spending taxpayer money. 
 
Mayor Flores believed that as a public servant he is against increasing salaries.  He 
did agree it is hard work and called for a consensus on how Council wished to prepare 
the Ordinance. 

 
City Attorney Stokes explained it is currently $6,000 for Council, $7,500  for Mayor 
plus $425 monthly ($5,100/year) for expenses for Mayor and Council.   
 
Councilwoman Dugo suggested $425 x 12 = $5,100 (for expenses) plus $13,900 = 
$19,000/year. 
 
Councilman Noble agreed with her numbers. 
 
Councilwoman Rivera asked City Attorney Stokes and City Manager McCue to 
increase the salaries where Greenacres falls within the first – third highest paid 
municipalities.   
 
City Manager McCue pointed out that the Ordinance stipulated the Mayor’s 
compensation at $21,000 (including expenses) and $19,000 for Council, and that the 
salaries would increase with a COLA at the same time and percentage as general 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 15 

employees (if any), each fiscal year.  The Ordinance also outlines participation in the 
City’s health insurance plan, including those individuals who want to opt out. 
 
City Attorney Stokes noted that if salaries are split part salary, part benefit, and the 
COLA is on the salary, the increase will be placed on 2/3 of the income. 
 
Councilman Noble clarified that the COLA should be paid on the entire salary. 
 
Mayor Flores opened the meeting to the public. 
 
Councilman Noble and Councilwoman Dugo did not agree with opening this subject to 
the public for comment.   
 
City Attorney Stokes pointed out that the Mayor and Council salary topic is a 
discussion item and that once an Ordinance is presented to them, the public will have 
its chance to provide comments at the beginning of the meeting 
 
Councilwoman Dugo wanted the Ordinance to be resubmitted, redefining Section 2-
26. 
 
City Attorney Stokes explained that by increasing the benefit from $425 to $500, it 
makes it an even $6,000 ($500 x 12) plus the $13,000 (for Council) and $15,000 (for 
Mayor) which brings the figures back to the salaries originally proposed. 
 
Mayor Ferreri and Council members instructed staff to prepare and schedule the 
Ordinance for first reading at the April 17, 2017 City Council meeting. 
 

B. City Slogan Discussion – Andrea McCue, City Manager.  
 

City Manager McCue reported that this item was raised by Councilwoman Rivera, 
discussed by Council, and later tabled.  It consists of changing the City’s slogan from, 
“A good place to live”, to “A great place to live”.  She asked for direction from Council. 

 
Councilwoman Rivera pointed out that upon “Googling” the City of Greenacres, what 
was noticeable were many links that stated, “A great place to live”.   
 
Councilwoman Bousquet noted that historically speaking, the City’s slogan appears in 
a 1934 song, and it is trademarked with the State.  She wanted to keep it as is. 
 
Councilwoman Dugo asked why did Council decide to change the slogan.  

 
City Manager McCue explained that the issue was raised during the designing of the 
City’s new website.  Also the City is looking to create new entry signs, and with a new 
website, etc. the issue was discussed.   
 
Councilwoman Dugo noted that not only is Greenacres a great place to live, but a great 
place to be; she wanted to see more businesses coming in. 
 
Mayor Flores believed it is important for residents to be proud of where they live and 
many are.  Saying it is “A great place to live” stands out more and upon visiting the 
parks and talking to residents, it is clear why Greenacres is “a great place to be”.  It 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 16 

sets us apart, and without losing its history, the City should take the next step and 
change it to “great”. 
 
Councilwoman Rivera believed by changing it to “great”, it identifies Greenacres more. 
She was a proponent of changing the slogan to, “A great place to live”, but agreed with 
not wanting to affect the City’s history.   
 
Councilwoman Bousquet was not opposed to changing the slogan, leaving the logo 
as is, and creating a marketing campaign, while still maintaining our history.   
 
City Manager McCue asked if a survey to residents to gauge the public’s opinion was 
the type of campaign she was suggesting.   
 
Councilwoman Dugo agreed it was time to start branding/marketing the City.  As for 
changing the slogan, she agreed with “great” versus “good”.  She noted that many 
residents cannot identify with the City’s current seal. 

 
Councilman Noble was in favor of changing “good” to “great”.  
 
City Manager McCue suggested having further discussions since social media (Twitter 
and Facebook) are also being considered and is another part of the 
branding/marketing process. 
 

 Mayor Flores and Council members agreed. 
 
C. Renaming of Community Asset in honor of Samuel J. Ferreri – Andrea McCue, 

City Manager. 
 

City Manager McCue recapped the previous Council discussion at the March 20, 2017 
meeting wherein Council considered renaming Freedom Park, the Community Center 
and Community Park were discussed.  Mayor Flores had requested additional 
discussion on this item.   

 
Mayor Flores noted that as a new Mayor, and speaking with former Mayor Ferreri, who 
expressed pride in being personally involved with the creation of the City’s park 
system, Mayor Flores recommended renaming Community Park as the, “Samuel J. 
Ferreri Community Park.”   

 
 
 
 
 
 
    Discussion on the Motion: 
 

Councilwoman Dugo cautioned that perhaps Council should consider 
“dedicating” a park, not “renaming” a park.   
 
Councilwoman Rivera agreed. 

 

MOTION: Councilman Noble made a motion to rename Community 
Park as the “Samuel J. Ferreri Community Park”.  
Councilwoman Bousquet seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 17 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

D. City Website Roll-Out – Andrea McCue, City Manager. 
 

City Manager McCue announced the launching of the City’s new website.  She 
thanked all City department directors and staff and gave special thanks to Purchasing 
Administrator Monica Powery for her role in making the new website a reality.   

 
E. Neighborhood Community Policing Discussions –Andrea McCue, City Manager. 

 
City Manager McCue noted that Councilwoman Rivera wanted to hold a neighborhood 
community policing meeting at the Community Center.  Scheduling conflicts forced 
this item to be revisited. 

 
Councilwoman Rivera reported coordinating with PBSO Capt. Sean Murray and the 
date of April 22, 2017 at 10 am has been scheduled to hold a meeting in the Original 
Section/District I.  She offered the Community Center to other Council members to 
hold similar meetings for their district meetings.  
 
Council members voiced concerns that issues should be addressed City-wide, not just 
focus on one district.  Council members represent the entire City and their decisions 
affect the City as a whole.    
 
Councilwoman Rivera apologized for focusing more on District I, but reminded Council 
members that District I has different needs than any other district.  She hoped to find 
a happy medium for all.  But when District I residents raise issues of concern, as an 
elected official, she will address those concerns. 
 
Councilwoman Dugo agreed that the policing discussion is valid; but she recently had 
issues in her district as well.  She agreed that the entire City can be considered for this 
discussion.  
 
City Manager McCue asked if April 22nd was set. 
 
Councilwoman Rivera stated that April 22nd at 10:00 a.m. was what she and Capt. 
Murray had discussed.  She asked if anyone would like to assist her in handing out 
flyers in District I. 
 
Councilwoman Dugo said other Council members would be handing out their own 
flyers through their homeowner associations.  With Passover, the timing called for 

VOTE ON  

THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Councilman Noble and Councilwoman 
Bousquet.  
Opposed:  Councilwoman Rivera and Councilwoman 
Dugo. 
  

 Motion failed: 2 - 2.  

 Mayor Flores broke the tie in favor of renaming 

Community Park to “Samuel J. Ferreri Community 

Park”. 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 18 

looking at different dates.  She reminded everyone this is City-wide. 
 
Mayor Flores commended Councilwoman Rivera for reaching out to the residents of 
District I; however, he understands how other Council members may feel left out.  He 
noted that all Council members and himself and the City Manager should work 
cohesively onthese types of issues.   
 
Councilwoman Rivera asked Council members to check their calendars and choose a 
date. 
 
Councilwoman Dugo suggested that the City Manager meet with Capt. Murray to 
schedule some dates.   
 
Councilman Noble suggested that the event be advertised in the City Link. 
 
Mayor Flores recommended establishing a procedure/policy on how to move forward.   
 
Councilwoman Bousquet reminded the Mayor and Council that they should be 
coordinating items through the City Manager. 

 
10. Staff Comments: 
 

A. City Manager’s Report 
 

 2016 Annual Report – City Manager McCue commended the Finance 
Department and the Executive Assistant for their assistance in providing a 
snapshot of the City’s financial state. 
 

 Mayor and Council Photos – City Manager McCue requested coordination with 
Council to have group photos taken once the District IV seat is filled, to be used 
on the City website and other uses. 

 

 Rollcall System – Council had discussed obtaining an app which is a server-
based system.  The cost will be higher than previously discussed.  She will 
keep Council apprised of this item. 

 

 City Parks Assessment – Six City staff assessed numerous parks looking at 
lighting, types of activities, etc.  Recommendations will follow. 

 

 Surtax Oversight Committee – The PBC League of Cities has appointed 
members of the Oversite Committee and the City is awaiting information on the 
review process.  Based on discussions with the Executive Director, the League 
is asking for a spreadsheet outlining the surtax projects previously approved 
by Council. It is now just a matter of waiting for direction from the League to 
proceed.   

 

 Employee Wellness Assessments – Health assessments were conducted the 
week of March 27th with a 55% participation, up from last year.  

  



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 19 

 

 Upcoming Events  
 

April 8th:  Child Car Seat Initiative to be held at the Walmart on Forest Hill 
                Blvd. 
April 15th: Eggstravaganza from 10 am – 1:30 pm at Community Park. 
April 25:   Food truck invasion from 5:00 pm – 9:30 pm at Community Park. 

 
B. City Attorney’s Report.  None. 

 

11. Mayor and City Council Reports. 
 

Mayor Flores 
 
 PBC League of Cities 

 
Mayor Flores commended staff on an excellent job of hosting the PBC League of 
Cities luncheon on March 29th.  He thanked Councilwoman Bousquet, Councilman 
Noble and department directors for attending the event. 

 
   Afterschool Program 
 

Mayor Flores met with Leisure Services Director Michele Thompson who gave him 
a tour of the newly renovated Community Center. 
 
Food Truck Invasion 
 
Mayor Flores attended this event with Councilwoman Rivera and Councilwoman 
Bousquet. It had a small town community atmosphere.   
 
Business Development Board (BDB) 
 
On March 31st, Mayor Flores met with the BDB to learn ways to attract investors. 
 
Hot Spot & Cool Zone 
 
Mayor Flores reported spending 2.5 hours with Hot Spot and Cool Zone 
participants discussing what a mayor does, the recently approved surtax monies, 
and more.  Participants tried convincing the Mayor to install an indoor pool at the 
Community Center.  He even played basketball with some of the participants.   
 
Mayor’s Ball – Homeless Coalition of PBC 
 
On April 1st, Mayor Flores  attended the Mayor’s Ball.  He wanted Council and staff 
to work on an initiative to make sure they are addressing those needs in the 
community.   
 
Future Initiatives 
 

 Basketball with the Mayor with middle and high school students. 

 Meeting with principals (1 per week). 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                               April 3, 2017 

Page 20 

 Have local principals nominate a teacher to be recognized at the May 1st 
City Council meeting in conjunction with awarding six (6) City scholarships 
and during Teacher Appreciation Week in May.  

 Procedures, decorum, Sunshine Laws and rules of conduct for Council 
meetings. Appropriate topics of discussion, and social media should also 
be addressed.  He wanted to see training begin immediately following the 
selection of the District IV seat. 

 Council Policy 12 Designation of Deputy Mayor.  He instructed the City 
Attorney to raise this policy with the Charter Review Committee (CRC).    

 
City Attorney Stokes reported that the CRC has already reviewed and 
considered this policy. 
 
Councilwoman Dugo noted that the League of Cities offers similar training on 
procedures, decorum, Sunshine Laws, etc.  She liked the idea of holding 
training in-house, but believed that the League was a better suited venue. 
 
City Attorney Stokes explained that his training would be more specific, 
focusing mainly on quasi-judicial matters.  

 
12. Adjournment.  
 

Councilwoman Bousquet moved to adjourn the meeting, seconded by Councilwoman 
Dugo.  The meeting adjourned at 10:04 p.m. 

 
 
CITY COUNCIL    Respectfully submitted, 
    
 

_____________________________  ________________________________ 
Joel Flores     Joanna Cunningham, MMC 
Mayor      City Clerk  

 
Date Approved: __________________ 
 

/mel   



Lisa M. Rivera 
Councilwoman  District I 

Peter A. Noble 
Councilman  District II 

Judith Dugo 
Councilwoman  District III 

Vacant 
Councilman  District IV 

Paula Bousquet 
Councilwoman  District V 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA, PROCLAIMING 
“AFTERSCHOOL PROFESSIONALS APPRECIATION WEEK” FOR, 2017 

 
WHEREAS, the citizens of Greenacres firmly believe that afterschool professionals (those who 
work with children and youth in a wide variety of program settings to provide extended learning 
opportunities during out-of-school hours) have a positive effect on our children, families, 
community and businesses; and 

WHEREAS, afterschool professionals are a decisive element in children’s’ access high-quality 

relationships and expanded opportunities beyond what they have access to at school and home, 

which they need to reach their full potential; and  

WHEREAS, afterschool professionals deserve appreciation for all that they do to for children to 

enhance their education, promote physical and emotional health, provide a safe environment and 

expose them to new experiences;and 

WHEREAS, the City of Greenacres is committed to supporting the professionals who provide 

expanded learning opportunities that will help close the achievement gap and prepare young 

people to compete in the global economy;and 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Joel Flores, Mayor of the City of Greenacres, proclaim April 24-28, 

2017 as Afterschool Professionals Appreciation Week in Greenacres, and urge the citizens of 

Greenacres to join me in this special observance with appropriate events and displays of 

appreciation. 

  .       
               

                         

               

         
 

               
 
              Attest: 
  

Given under my Hand and Seal of the City of 

Greenacres, Florida this 17th day of April, 2017. 

 
 
 

Joel Flores, Mayor 
 
Attest:  
 

 
Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk  



RESOLUTION NO. 2017-23 

 
A RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, SATISFYING CERTAIN LIENS IMPOSED 
AGAINST RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY, PURSUANT TO SECTION 15-32, 
CITY OF GREENACRES CODE. 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Greenacres, Florida, adopted Resolutions contained 

in the list, attached hereto as Exhibit “A”, imposing liens upon certain residential properties 

for the owners’ failure to pay for the collection and disposal of garbage, recyclable materials 

and vegetative waste as required by Section 15-26, City of Greenacres Code; and 

WHEREAS, the owners of the residential properties contained in Exhibit “A”, have 

brought their accounts current for the payment of the debts and charges for the collection 

and disposal of garbage, recyclable materials and vegetative waste, plus applicable interest 

and administrative fees. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

GREENACRES, FLORIDA, THAT: 

Section 1.  Under the terms of Section 15-32, City of Greenacres Code, residential 

properties contained in the list supplied by the Finance Department of Greenacres, Florida, 

attached to this Resolution as Exhibit “A”, have satisfied their imposed liens as recorded with 

the Clerk of the Circuit Court in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, in Official Records Book. 

 Section 2. This Resolution shall be recorded in the Public Records of Palm Beach 

County, Florida, and shall have the effect of releasing said liens against those residential 

properties contained in the list attached hereto as Exhibit “A” only. 

 

 



Resolution No. 2017-23                                                                                            Page 2 
 

RESOLVED AND ADOPTED this 17th day of April, 2017. 

                   Voted  

 
           ( ) 
Joel Flores      Lisa Rivera 
Mayor       Councilwoman, District I 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    Peter Noble 
City Clerk      Councilman, District II 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Judith Dugo 

       Councilwoman, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      (Vacant)  
       District IV 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Paula Bousquet 
       Councilwoman, District V 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 

 
 









CITY OF GREENACRES 
Council Agenda Memo 

2017.04NK2.01 
 
 
TO: Mayor and City Council 
 
THROUGH: Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 
FROM:  James McInnis, Director of Finance 
 
SUBJECT: Resolution 2017-23 - Release of Liens for Solid Waste Collection 
 
DATE: April 10, 2017 
 
COPIES: James D. Stokes, City Attorney 
 Johanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Section 15-30, City of Greenacres Code, provides for the imposition of liens upon 
residential properties for the non-payment of City solid waste bills. Section 15-32, City of 
Greenacres Code, provides for release of the liens when accounts are paid in full. 
 
ANALYSIS: 
 
Eighty (80) liens on 28 solid waste accounts totaling $18,103.20 have been paid in full. 
The attached resolution 2017-23 releases the 80 liens on 28 accounts. 
 
FINANCIAL: 
 
Liens amounting to $18,103.20 have been paid in full and are proposed for release. 
 
LEGAL: 
 
The resolution has been prepared in accordance with applicable City regulations. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approval of Resolution 2017-23. 
 
       __________________________ 
       James McInnis 
       Director of Finance 
Attachments: 
 

1. Resolution 2017-23 
2. Exhibit A 



ORDINANCE NO. 2017-07 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE CITY OF GREENACRES 
CODE OF ORDINANCES, CHAPTER 7 HEALTH, SANITATION AND 
NUISANCES, ARTICLE II ENTITLED “PROPERTY MAINTENANCE”; 
PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN 
CODE;   AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 
WHEREAS; the City Code of Ordinances, Chapter 6 Franchises, Article V Solid 

Waste, awards a franchise for the exclusive collection and hauling of residential and 

commercial solid waste within the City of Greenacres; and  

WHEREAS; the terms, conditions and restrictions of this franchise are contained 

in an agreement attached to the ordinance as “Exhibit 1”; and  

WHEREAS; the franchise agreement becomes amended from time to time through 

the adoption of ordinances by the City Council; and  

WHEREAS; the City Council of Greenacres finds that certain terms contained 

within the agreement concerning  conditions and restrictions of solid waste and vegetative 

waste collection should also be contained within Chapter 7 of the City Code for more 

efficient enforcement; and  

 WHEREAS; the City Council of Greenacres finds that it is in the best interests of 

the citizens of the City of Greenacres that the provisions of Chapters 7 of the City’s Code 

be amended; and 

 WHEREAS; the City Council of Greenacres finds that the amendments contained 

within this ordinance will promote the health, safety and welfare of the citizens of 

Greenacres. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 



Ordinance No. 2017- 07                                                  
Page 2 

  
Section 1.  

The City of Greenacres Code of Ordinances, Chapter 7 Health, Sanitation and 

Nuisances, Article II Property Maintenance, is hereby amended as follows: 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ARTICLE II. - PROPERTY MAINTENANCE [2] 
 
Sec. 7-26. - Definitions.  

Words, terms and phrases not defined herein shall take the meaning ascribed to them 

in the City’s current Solid Waste Franchise Agreement as authorized by Sec. 6-276 as 

amended from time to time. The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this 

article, shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context 

clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Authorized private receptacle shall mean a litter, garbage, trash, refuse, or rubbish 

storage or collection container as required and authorized by this article.  

Bulk trash shall mean any non-vegetative item, which cannot be containerized, 

bagged, or bundled; including, but not limited to, domestic appliances, water heaters, 

bicycles, bathtubs, household goods and furniture.  

Chattel shall mean personal property as contrasted with real estate.  

Commercial container shall mean a container, other than a garbage can, or litter, 

refuse, rubbish, or trash receptacle, which shall be of a design, construction, and 

location approved by the city.  

Construction and demolition debris (C&D) shall mean the materials generally 

considered to be not water soluble and non-hazardous in nature, including, but not 

limited to, steel, glass, brick, concrete, roofing material, pipe, gypsum wallboard and 

lumber from the construction or destruction of a structure. 



Ordinance No. 2017- 07                                                  
Page 3 

  
District shall mean the South Florida Management District.  

Garbage shall mean putrescible animal, fruit and vegetable wastes resulting from the 

handling, preparation, cooking, or consumption of food; any other matter of any 

nature whatsoever which is subject to decay, putrefaction, and the generation of 

noxious or offensive gases or odors; and any bottles, cans, or other containers.  

Garbage can shall mean a metal or plastic can of the type commonly sold as a 

garbage can of a capacity of not less than ten (10) gallons and not to exceed thirty 

fifty (350) gallons. The can shall have two (2) handles upon the sides of it or a bail by 

which it may be lifted, shall have a tight-fitting top, and shall be watertight. A garbage 

can is also defined as a heavy duty, securely tied, plastic bag designed for use as a 

garbage receptacle. 

Hazardous waste shall mean solid waste as defined by the State of Florida 

Department of Environmental Regulation as a hazardous waste, in the State of 

Florida Administrative Code, or by any future legislative action or by federal, state or 

local law. 

Litter, garbage, refuse, rubbish shall mean all other waste material which, if thrown 

or deposited as prohibited in this article, tends to create a danger to public health, 

safety, and welfare.  

Private premises shall mean any dwelling, house, building, or other structure, 

designed or used either wholly or in part for private residential purposes, whether 

inhabited or temporarily or continuously uninhabited or vacant. "Private premises" 

shall include any yard, grounds, walk, driveway, porch, steps, vestibule, or mailbox 

belonging or appurtenant to the dwelling, house, building, or other structure.  



Ordinance No. 2017- 07                                                  
Page 4 

  
Property shall mean any property now or hereafter within the city.  

Refuse shall mean all putrescible and nonputrescible solid wastes (except body 

wastes), including garbage, rubbish, ashes, street cleanings, and dead animals, 

abandoned automobiles, and solid market and industrial wastes.  

Rubbish shall mean nonputrescible solid wastes consisting of both combustible and 

noncombustible wastes, such as paper, wrappings, cigarettes, cardboard, tin cans, 

yard clippings, leaves, wood, glass, bedding, crockery, and similar materials.  

Trash shall mean nonputrescible solid wastes consisting of both combustible and 

noncombustible wastes such as paper, cardboard, boxes, crates, yard clippings, 

leaves, wood, glass and similar materials.  

Trash container shall mean the same as garbage can, as defined above, or any other 

basket, bag, box, or container, not over thirty fifty (350) gallons capacity, from which 

trash may be dumped easily without jarring or probing for removal.  

Vegetation shall mean plant life of any type or form, living or dead. 

Vegetative waste  shall mean any vegetative matter resulting from yard and 

landscaping maintenance by any party and shall include materials such as; tree and 

shrub material, grass clippings, palm fronds, tree branches and similar other matter. 

Vehicle shall mean every device in, upon, or by which any person or property is or 

may be transported or drawn upon a highway, including devices used exclusively 

upon stationary rails or tracks.  

Sec. 7-27. - Nuisance declared.  

Nuisance is defined as the action of any person or the use of or the activity upon or 

within any public or private parcel, lot, tract of land or premise within the city for a period 



Ordinance No. 2017- 07                                                  
Page 5 

  
of time which exceeds fourteen (14) days and which, after a review and investigation by 

appropriate city officials or other governmental agency, is determined to be in any way 

offensive or noxious by reason of any or all of the following:  

(1) The casting, throwing, sweeping, placing, depositing, or burial of any litter, 

garbage, refuse, rubbish, chattel, vegetative waste or trash in any manner other 

than placing same in a proper disposal facility or place, commercial container, 

authorized private receptacle, garbage can, or trash container or as otherwise 

determined in this article; or  

(2) The emission or discharge of any odor, gas, dust, smoke, vibration, or noise; or  

(3) The condition of ill-repair or lack of maintenance of any real property such that 

such condition is deemed to be unsafe or creates a health, sanitation, or safety 

hazard; or  

(4) The uncontrolled growth of vegetation or any growth of weeds, grass, or other 

similar ground cover which exceeds twelve (12) inches in height, or rank 

vegetable growths which exhale unpleasant or noxious odors, or any vegetation 

or plant material growth which is conducive to harboring vermin, insects, reptiles, 

or other wild animal life; or  

(5) The growth of any vegetation, plant material, or tree which might in time of 

hurricanes or storms cause damage to life or property within the immediate area 

of such growth; or  

(6) The keeping of animals or fowl in any manner which causes a disturbance, 

creates an unhealthy or unsanitary condition, or is unsafe for the animals or fowl 

or to the general public; or  



Ordinance No. 2017- 07                                                  
Page 6 

  
(7) The presence, accumulation, open storage, or otherwise keeping, of any 

abandoned, discarded, or unused chattel; or  

(8) The parking, leaving, storing, or possession of any boat, trailer, or parts thereof, 

which is in a rusted, wrecked, junked, partially dismantled, inoperative, or 

abandoned condition, whether attended or not, upon any public or private 

property unless same is completely enclosed within a building or structure and is 

completely shielded from view from adjoining properties or rights-of-way; or  

(9) The parking, leaving, storing, or possession of any inoperative motor vehicle, or 

parts thereof, upon any public or private property unless same is completely 

enclosed within a building or structure and is completely shielded from view from 

adjoining properties or rights-of-way; or  

(10) The keeping of any building or structure in an unclean or unsanitary condition; or  

(11) The presence, accumulation, storage, or keeping of any debris, building material, 

or material of any kind on the ground, leaning against any building or structure, 

or upon the roof or top of any building or structure.  

Sec. 7-28. - Nuisances prohibited.  

No owner, tenant, or occupant of any public or private parcel, lot, tract of land or 

premise within the city shall keep or maintain or allow to be kept or maintained any such 

parcel, lot, tract of land, or premise in any manner such that it is detrimental to the health, 

safety or welfare of the public or in a condition declared a nuisance as set forth in section 

7-27.  

 

 



Ordinance No. 2017- 07                                                  
Page 7 

  
Sec. 7-29. - Certain grass areas required.  

All owners, tenants or occupants of a property shall maintain a complete ground cover 

of lawn grass as required in sections 16-1245, 16-1246, 16-1292, and 16-1311.  

Sec. 7-30. - Lot cleaning required.  

All platted or unplatted lots, parcels and tracts of land lying adjacent to or abutting 

upon any public street, thoroughfare, private street, private property or occupied property, 

or within a distance of fifty (50) feet thereof, within the city shall be cleaned of all nuisances 

as defined in section 7-27, such as dead and dying trees, stumps, roots, obnoxious 

growth, filth, garbage, trash and debris.  

Sec. 7-31. - Scheduling of lot cleaning.  

All lots, parcels and tracts of land shall be cleaned on a semiannual basis and at such 

other times during the year as necessary in order not to create a nuisance pursuant to 

section 7-27.  

Sec. 7-32. - Lot cleaning—Inspection and enforcement.  

All lots, parcels and tracts of land shall be inspected by city code inspectors for 

compliance with the requirements of this article. The provisions of this article will be 

enforced pursuant to section 2-72 and section 2-72.1 of this code. For violations where 

the code enforcement board or special magistrate has issued an order imposing a fine 

and where the violation presents a serious threat to the public health, safety, and welfare, 

the city manager or designee shall give notice to the landowner, and if the landowner 

shall not comply with such notice, the city manager or designee may proceed with such 

work with all due and convenient expedience, may contract for such work in the name of 

the city, or may authorize and direct city personnel to carry out such work. The actual 



Ordinance No. 2017- 07                                                  
Page 8 

  
costs incurred by the city for cleaning a property shall be assessed as a city services lien, 

which takes precedence over other liens.  

Secs. 7-33.  - Residential waste collection and disposal. 

1)  Garbage and trash  

(a) All garbage and trash shall be placed in an approved garbage can, and 

deposited at curbside for collection no sooner than 3:00 pm the day prior to its 

scheduled collection and shall be removed no later than 11:00 am of the day 

after collection. 

(b) Garbage cans shall be placed within six (6) feet of the public road, closest 

accessible public right-of-way, or other such location as agreed to by the city 

and its franchisee. 

(c) In no case shall any residential garbage can and its contents weigh more than 

fifty (50) pounds when placed for collection and shall not be overflowing so that 

the lid will not close. 

(d) Garbage cans are to be maintained in good condition. Any can having ragged 

or sharp edges or holes, or being unable to support the weight of its contents, 

or having any other defect likely to cause bodily injury or in any manner hamper 

collection of its contents, shall not be emptied by the city franchisee. Such 

defects shall be corrected or the can replaced at the expense of the owner. In 

the event a defective residential garbage can does not comply with the above 

provisions, and after the passage of three (3) consecutive collection days, the 

can shall be deemed abandoned by its owner and may be removed by the city 

franchisee. 

(e) No garbage can shall be placed or maintained upon or adjacent to any street, 

sidewalk, parkway, front yard, side yard or other place within the reasonable 



Ordinance No. 2017- 07                                                  
Page 9 

  
view of persons using the public streets or sidewalks, except as allowed by this 

article for the purposes of collection thereof. 

(f) The responsibility for preparation of a residential garbage can and its contents 

shall rest with the occupant and with the owner of a property. Rupture, damage, 

overflow or any other cause resulting in the scattering of trash and/or garbage 

will obligate the occupant to reassemble all of the garbage and provide an 

undamaged can prior to collection. Any scattered litter, trash or garbage after 

collection shall be cleaned up by the occupant prior to 11:00 am of the day after 

collection. The city shall require the owner of a property to comply with these 

requirements upon a failure of the occupant to do so. 

2)  Construction and demolition debris (C&D) and bulk trash   

(a) Construction and demolition debris from minor home maintenance shall be 

limited to four (4) cubic yards per collection day per unit. C&D shall be 

containerized for collection, larger items of C&D may be stacked or bundled 

with no item weighing more than fifty (50) pounds. 

(b) Bulk trash and C&D must be placed within six (6) feet of the curb, paved surface 

of the public road, closest accessible public right-of-way, or other such location 

agreed to by the city and its franchisee. 

(c) Bulk trash and C&D shall be placed out for collection no sooner than 3:00 pm 

the day prior to scheduled collection. 

(d) After collection any remaining trash or C&D shall be properly cleaned and 

removed from the collection site by 11:00 am of the day after collection. 

(e) Garbage and/or vegetative waste shall not be comingled with C&D or bulk 

trash. 

3)  Vegetative waste 



Ordinance No. 2017- 07                                                  
Page 10 

  
 

(a) Yard or garden wastes shall not be placed for collection within ten (10) feet of 

any pole connected by wires conducting electricity or guy wires connected to 

such pole, within ten (10) feet of any traffic control or telephone interface 

junction panel, within five (5) feet of any wall or fence, or at any other 

obstruction so as to impede collection, nor shall such wastes be placed upon 

any paved street or sidewalk in such a manner as to impede vehicular or 

pedestrian traffic. 

(b) All grass clippings, leaves, pine needles and similar small loose items must be 

bagged or containerized for collection. 

(c) Vegetative waste must not exceed six (6) feet in length and no single item shall 

weigh more than fifty (50) pounds. 

(d) Garbage, trash and C&D shall not be comingled with vegetative waste. 

(e) Vegetative waste remaining after collection shall be removed from collection 

site by the occupant by 11:00 am of the day after collection. 

4)  Enforcement 

 The City franchisee may tag any garbage, trash or waste that is in violation of this 

section and such tag shall be considered a code enforcement citation warning per 

section 2-72.1 of this code. The deadline to comply with this warning is 6:00 am of 

the day of the next scheduled collection for such garbage, trash or waste.   

Sec. 7-34. – 7-40. - Reserved. 

Sec. 7-41    Special wastes collection and disposal. 

(a) The following list of special wastes requires special handling and 

management and shall not be placed out for residential or commercial collection:  

(1)Hazardous waste;  



Ordinance No. 2017- 07                                                  
Page 11 

  
(2) Construction and demolition debris except as per Sec. 7-34(2)(a);  

(3) Waste tires, used oil, lead acid batteries, ash residue; and  

(4) Automobiles, boats, jet skis, trailers, large vehicle parts or any item 

with a gasoline engine.  

(b) It shall be the joint responsibility of owner, occupant and users to legally 

dispose of special wastes identified above as provided for in F.S. ch. 403 or other 

federal, state or local codes.  

Secs. 7-42.—7-50. - Reserved.  

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

Section 2. Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances 

All ordinances or parts thereof or parts of the Code conflicting or inconsistent with 

the provisions of this ordinance are hereby repealed. 

 Section 3. Severability 

 If any section, part of a section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word of 

this Ordinance is for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, inoperative or 

void, such holdings of invalidity shall not affect the remaining portion of this Ordinance 

and it shall be construed to have been the legislative intent to pass the Ordinance without 

such unconstitutional, invalid or inoperative part therein, and the remainder of this 

Ordinance after the exclusion of such part or parts shall be deemed to be held valid as if 

such part or parts had not been included therein, or if this Ordinance or any of the 

provisions thereof shall be held inapplicable to any person, group of persons, property, 

kind of property, circumstances, or set of circumstances, such holdings shall not affect 

the applicability thereof to any other person, property or circumstances. 

  

 



Ordinance No. 2017- 07                                                  
Page 12 

  
Section 4. Inclusion in Code  

 It is the intention of the City Council, entered as hereby ordained, that the 

provisions of this Ordinance shall become and be made a part of the Code of Laws and 

Ordinances of the City of Greenacres, Florida; that the Section(s) of this Ordinance may 

be renumbered or re-lettered to accomplish such intention, and that the word “ordinance” 

may be changed to “Section”, “Article” or another word. 

Section 5. Effective Date 

 The provisions of this Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon 

adoption by City Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance No. 2017- 07                                                  
Page 13 

  
Passed on the first reading this  17th day of April, 2017. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED on the second reading this __day of __, 2017. 

Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Joel Flores      Paula Bousquet 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    Lisa Rivera 
City Clerk      Councilwoman, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Councilman, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Councilwoman, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Vacant 
       Councilperson, District IV 
 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 
 























































































































CITY OF GREENACRES 
 

Council Agenda Memo 
#2017.04B7.03 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 
 

THROUGH: Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 

FROM: Michael Grimm, Director/CBO, Building Department 
   

SUBJECT: Ordinance No. 2017-07 Amending City Code Chapter 7 Health 
Sanitation and Nuisance, City Council Agenda Item for 04-17-2017 
 

DATE:  April 10, 2017 
 

COPIES: James D. Stokes, City Attorney 
  Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Background: 
 
City code section 6-276 was adopted through Ordinance 2001-16 on August 20, 
2001. This code section awarded an exclusive solid waste collection services 
franchise to Onyx Waste Services of Florida. The terms and conditions of the 
franchise are contained in the Residential and Commercial Solid Waste 
Collection Services Franchise Agreement adopted in the code as “Exhibit 1”. The 
agreement has been amended several times and the franchisee is currently 
Advanced Disposal. 
 
 There are many terms, conditions and restrictions contained in the franchise 
agreement that concerns the types, amounts and methods of containerizing or 
preparing garbage, trash and waste for collection by the franchisee. If done 
improperly, the franchisee is not required to collect and dispose of such garbage, 
trash and waste. 
 
There are several other sections of City Code that deal with garbage, trash and 
waste including Chapter 7 Health Sanitation and Nuisance and the 2012 City of 
Greenacres Property Maintenance Code.  None of the City Code sections 
contain restrictions on the amounts and methods of preparing the garbage, trash 
and waste for collection similar to what is in the franchise agreement. Ordinance 
2017-07 is proposed in order to set these terms, conditions and restrictions into 
the City Code to make enforcement of them more efficient and thereby improve 
the quality of city neighborhoods. 
 
 
 
 



Memo: #2017.04B7.03 Page 2 of 3 
  

 

Analysis: 
 
1) Definitions were added for bulk trash, construction and demolition debris, 
hazardous waste and vegetative waste. Some other definitions were clarified. 

 
2) Garbage can size was increased from 30-gallon maximum to 50-gallon 
maximum to coincide with size allowed by the franchise agreement. 

 
3) Sec. 7-27 Nuisance declared, was amended to remove the 14 day 

requirement for an action, activity or use to be declared a nuisance. 
 

4) Sec. 7-32 Lot cleaning, added option to enforce by new citation system 
and added city manager designee shall be allowed to give notice. 

 
5)  Added Sec. 7-33 Residential waste collection and disposal.  

a. Garbage and trash in approved containers. 
 
b. Limits putting out trash to no sooner than 3:00 pm the day before 

collection scheduled and empty cans to be removed no later than 
11:00 am of the day after collection. 

 
c. Limits weight of garbage to 50 lbs. 

 
d. Requires maintenance of garbage cans. 

 
e. Restricts location of garbage cans. 

 
f. Requires cleanup of collection site  

 
g. Limits the amount of construction debris to 4 cubic yards. 

 
h. Requires containerizing most construction debris. 

 
i. Limits where trash and waste may be place for collection. 

 
j. Prohibits comingling of trash, garbage and vegetative waste. 

 
k. Limits size and weight of vegetative wastes. 

 
l. Requires containerizing small loose vegetative wastes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Financial: 



Memo: #2017.04B7.03 Page 3 of 3 
  

 

 
No financial impact expected. 
 
Legal: 
 
The Ordinance has been prepared in compliance with City Code and Florida 
State Statutes. 
 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
Approval of Ordinance 2017-07 amending City Code Chapter 7 Health Sanitation 
and Nuisance. 
 
______________________________ 
Michael Grimm CBO 
Director Building Department 
 
 
Attachments: 
  

1. Ordinance No. 2017-07 
2. “Exhibit 1” Residential and Commercial Solid Waste Collection Services 

Franchise Agreement 



ORDINANCE NO. 2017-08 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AMENDING ARTICLE II, SEC. 2-26 AND SEC. 2-
27, OF THE GREENACRES CODE OF ORDINANCES, INCREASING THE 
COMPENSATION OF THE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL; 
PROVIDING FOR A COST OF LIVING; PROVIDING FOR CERTAIN 
BENEFITS; PROVIDING FOR A REPEALER; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE CODE; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Charter of the City of Greenacres provides that the remuneration of the 

Mayor and Council members shall be established by Ordinance; and 

 WHEREAS, Ordinances No 2001-05, enacted on April 17, 2001, established an annual 

compensation and monthly expense allowances to be paid for the Mayor and each Council 

member; and 

 WHEREAS, the demands and expenses associated with the public service duties 

performed by such elected officials has increased significantly over the past sixteen (16) years 

and is expected to continue to increase in the future; and 

 WHEREAS, after conducting a survey of other municipalities, it was determined that the 

current remuneration is among the lowest is Palm Beach County; and 

 WHEREAS, increasing the remuneration is in the best interest of the City, which will 

benefit from adequately and properly compensating the City’s elected officials for their duties; 

and 

 WHEREAS, reimbursement for expenses should properly be included in the annual 

salary, and such salary should be increased periodically in order to account for the increase to 

the cost of living; and 



Resolution No. 2017-__  Page 2 

 WHEREAS, the Charter of the City of Greenacres, as well as state and federal 

employment law, has been interpreted by the City Attorney as providing that the City Council 

sits as a body politic and the decisions of Council are done as a body and not individually, 

therefore any adjustment to the remuneration of Council shall be applied to all members of 

Council simultaneously, but not during the term when this Ordinance was enacted (i.e., not until 

after the next local election). 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

 Section 1.  That Article II, entitled “Mayor and City Council” of the Code of Ordinances 

of the City of Greenacres is hereby amended as follows: 

 Sec. 2-26.  Salary of mayor and members of city council. 

 The compensation for the mayor shall be seven sixteen thousand five hundred dollars 

($7,500.00 $16,000) per year and the compensation for the members of the city council shall 

be six thirteen thousand dollars ($6,000.00 $13,000.00) per year.  This salary shall be 

increased at the same time and by the same percentage of the Cost of Living Adjustment 

(COLA) given to the general employees, if any, each fiscal year. 

 Sec. 2-27.  Expense allowance and benefits of mayor and members of the city 

council. 

 The mayor and members of the city council shall receive a monthly expense allowance 

of four five hundred twenty-five dollars ($425.00 $500.00).  The mayor and members of the city 

council shall be allowed to participate in the City’s health insurance program to the same extent 

as general employees, including remuneration for opting-out of such coverage; as well as being 



Resolution No. 2017-__  Page 3 

allowed to participate in the retirement plan of the general employees; shall be provided a City 

laptop or tablet and a City cell phone at no cost to the official. 

 Section 2.  Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances.   

 All ordinances or parts thereof or parts of the Code conflicting or inconsistent with the 

provisions of this ordinance are hereby repealed. 

 Section 3.  Severability.   

 If any section, part of a section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word of this 

Ordinance is for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, inoperative or void, such 

holdings of invalidity shall not affect the remaining portion of this Ordinance and it shall be 

construed to have been the legislative intent to pass the Ordinance without such 

unconstitutional, invalid or inoperative part therein, and the remainder of this Ordinance after 

the exclusion of such part or parts shall be deemed to be held valid as if such part or parts had 

not been included therein, or if this Ordinance or any of the provisions thereof shall be held 

inapplicable to any person, group or persons, property, kind of property, circumstances, or set 

of circumstances, such holdings shall not affect the applicability thereof to any other person, 

property or circumstances. 

 Section 4. Inclusion in Code. 

 It is the intention of the City Council that the provisions of this Ordinance shall become 

and be made part of the Code of Laws and Ordinances of the City of Greenacres; that the 

section(s) of this Ordinance may be renumbered or re-letttered to accomplish such intention, 

and that the word “ordinance” may be changed to “section”, “article” or another word. 

 Section 5.   Effective Date.   



Resolution No. 2017-__  Page 4 

 This increases to remuneration contained herein shall take effect for the first, full pay 

period subsequent to the next general election after passage of this Ordinance. 

  

 

Passed on first reading this      day of April, 2017. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED on second reading this ___ day of May, 2017. 

 
 
 Voted 
 
 ( )  ( ) 
Joel Flores Paula Bousquet 
Mayor Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 ( )  ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham Lisa Rivera 
City Clerk Councilwoman, District I 
 
 

  ( ) 
 Peter Noble 
 Councilman, District II 

 
 
  ( ) 
 Judith Dugo 
 Councilwoman, District III 
 
 
  ( ) 
 Vacant 
 Councilman, District IV 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 



CITY OF GREENACRES 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

2017.04JDS1.02 

 
TO: Mayor and City Council 
 

FROM: James Stokes, City Attorney 
 

SUBJECT: Ordinance No. 2017-08__  
 Revising the City Code of Ordinances, Chapter 2. Mayor & Council;  
 providing for an increase in remuneration. 
 

COPIES: Andrea McCue, City Manager 
  Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
 

DATE: April 17, 2017 
 
 

BACKGROUND: 
 
The Charter of the City of Greenacres provides for remuneration for the Mayor and City 
Council members.  Specifically, the Charter states as follows: 
 

The salary of the Mayor shall be established by Ordinance; such salary shall 
not be increased during the current term of the Mayor enacting such 
Ordinance. 

 
Charter, Art. 2, Sec. 4; and 
 

The salaries of the members of the Council shall be established by 
ordinance; such salary shall not be increased during the current term of the 
members of the Council enacting such ordinance. 

 
Charter, Art. 2, Sec. 4. 
 
The remuneration for the Mayor and Council have been set by Ordinance as authorized 
by the Charter.  A salary has been set by Section 2-26, and an expense account has been 
set by Section 2,27.  The dollar amounts for both the salary and the expense account 
were last increased on May 7. 2001, and have no mechanism in place for automatic 
increases or inflationary increases (i.e., no cost of living adjustments). 
 
The Code of Ordinances states as follows: 
 

The compensation for the mayor shall be seven thousand five hundred 
dollars ($7,500.00) per year and the compensation for the members of the 
city council shall be six thousand dollars ($6,000.00) per year. 

 
Sec. 2-26, Code of Ordinances. 
 



2017.04JDS1.02                    Page 2 of 3 

  

The mayor and members of the city council shall receive a monthly expense 
allowance of four hundred twenty-five dollars ($425.00). 

 
Sec. 2-27, Code of Ordinances. 
 
An informal survey of other municipalities revealed that total remuneration for a Mayor 
range from $10,104 to $41,200 per year1 (compared to $12,600 in Greenacres); and total 
remuneration for a Council member/Commissioner range from $9,600 to $40,000 per 
year (compared to $11,100 in Greenacres). [see attached surveys] 
 
ANALYSIS: 
 
Pursuant to the Charter, the remuneration for the Mayor and Council is at the discretion 
of the City Council, as it can be lawfully enacted by Ordinance.  Pursuant to state law, 
there is not ethical conflict with an elected official voting as part of a body to increase his 
or her own salary, provided such action is authorized by law; which, in this case, it is. 
 
The language in the Charter, which provides that "...such salary shall not be increased 

during the current term of the members of the Council enacting such ordinance[,]" remains 
a provision which requires clarification and interpretation.  In 2001, this was interpreted 
so that each individual member needed to wait until his or her seat was subject to 
reelection before the salary increase would take effect.  The result of this interpretation 
was that half of the Council waited an entire year longer for their salary increase than did 
their counterparts.   
 
Between each election, the City Council sits as a body-politic in the same fashion as the 
Legislature in Tallahassee or the Congress in Washington.  No individual Council member 
can enact anything by his or herself.  All action of Council is done only as a collegial body, 
including any Ordinance which increases the remuneration of elected officials. 
 
When looking at the language of the Charter ("...such salary shall not be increased during 

the current term of the members of the Council enacting such ordinance[]"), it can be 
interpreted one of two ways:2 (1) that each individual member await their re-election; or 
(2) that the salary increase cannot take effect until after the next election, at which point 
it will apply equally to all members. 
 
It is my opinion that the latter is the proper interpretation.  First, the "Council enacting 
such ordinance" is a body, not an individual; therefore, the "current term" must be 
interpreted as the current term of the body, not the current term of any individual member.  
Second, to require half of the Council to wait a year longer than their counterparts results 
in the inequitable circumstance that half of the Council would be earning the lower salary, 
while the other half (and, potentially the newly elected and inexperienced) making the 

                                                           
1   This excludes West Palm Beach which employs a full-time, strong Mayor for $131,000 per year. 
 

2   The Charter provisions in question are part of the original Charter enacted in March of 1978, and there is 
no legislative history to explain the intent of the drafters. 
 



2017.04JDS1.02                    Page 3 of 3 

  

higher salary.  This type of disparity in compensation, while not necessarily unlawful, is 
at the very least inequitable.  
 
FINANCIAL: 
 
A tThis salary and benefit increase will not take effect until the middle of the next fiscal 
year, the funds will be allocated as part of next year's budget. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
None.  This matter falls within the sole discretion of the Council to decide. 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 2017-20 

 
A RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AUTHORIZING THE SUBMITTAL OF A 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL TO THE PALM BEACH COUNTY YOUTH 
SERVICES DEPARTMENT FOR THE LEISURE SERVICES YOUTH 
PROGRAMS DIVISION, FOR FUNDING FOR FISCAL YEAR 2018 FOR 
THE COOL ZONE AND HOT SPOT PROGRAMS, AND AUTHORIZING THE 
APPROPRIATE CITY OFFICIALS TO EXECUTE AND SUBMIT THE 
NECESSARY DOCUMENTS. 
 

 
WHEREAS,  the City’s Youth Programs Division, established in 1995, provides  

Kindergarten through high school students with a safe, affordable, structured and healthy 

environment during out-of-school time for participants who represent over 18 different 

schools in the Greenacres’ area and throughout Palm Beach County; and 

WHEREAS, the City agrees it is in the best interest of the Cool Zone and Hot Spot 

program participants to secure additional funding to provide for affordable winter, spring 

and summer camp services, enhanced opportunities, offset personnel and operating 

expenses, and effectively achieve positive outcomes and performance measures.      

WHEREAS, the City’s Youth Programs Division desires to submit a Request for 

Proposal to the Palm Beach County Youth Services Department for FY2018 funds to 

address the countywide Youth Master Plan Action Area: Social and Emotional Learning 

Supports through quality Out-of School programs;     

 WHEREAS, the City Youth Programs Division will submit the RFP between $60,000 

to $100,000 by April 28, 2017 upon City Manger approval, for the Cool Zone and Hot Spot 

programs;  

 

 



Resolution No. 2017-20                                                                                                Page 2 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA, THAT: 

 Section 1.  The City Council grants authorization for the submittal of the Palm 

Beach County Youth Services Department FY2018 Request for Proposal for the Cool Zone 

and Hot Spot programs.  

 Section 2. The City authorizes the appropriate City officials to execute and submit 

the Request for Proposal along with all required documentation.    

Section 3.  This resolution shall be effective upon its adoption. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Resolution No. 2017-20                                                                                                Page 3 

 

RESOLVED AND ADOPTED this 17th day of April, 2017. 

            Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Joel Flores      Paula Bousquet 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    Lisa Rivera 
City Clerk      Councilwoman, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Councilman, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Councilwoman, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
        District IV - Vacant 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 

 





























































































































  

 
 

CITY OF GREENACRES 
COUNCIL AGENDA MEMORANDUM 

2017.05MT6.004 
 
 
TO:  Mayor & City Council 
 
THROUGH: Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 
FROM: Michele Thompson, Director of Leisure Services 
 
SUBJECT: RESOLUTION NO. 2017-20 – PBC Youth Services Department RFP    
 
DATE:   April 7, 2017 

 
Background: 
On January 5, 2015, the Palm Beach County Board of County Commissioners established 
the new Youth Services Department (YSD), in an effort to better serve the youth of Palm 
Beach County effectively and efficiently. The children, youth and young adult programs 
offered by the County’s Public Safety, Community Services, and the Criminal Justice 
Commission were consolidated under this new department. The mission: "To administer 
programs and initiatives of the Board of County Commissioners to ensure the healthy 
growth, development, education, and transition of children and youth to young adulthood 
and the workforce."  
 
YSD, along with the other youth-serving agencies in the Birth to 22: United for Brighter 
Futures Coalition, participated in a collaborative community-based process creating a 
collective impact framework to develop a Youth Master Plan (YMP) for Palm Beach County. 
This YMP is entitled "Strengthening the Steps to Success" and includes six (6) Action 
Areas: 

1. Economic Access 
2. Parenting & Role Models 
3. Social & Emotional Learning Supports  
4. Educational Supports 
5. Health and Wellness 
6. Removal of Community Stressors and Systemic Barriers 

 
As a result of the community surveys, the Palm Beach County Board of County 
Commissioners’ (BCC) Youth Services Department (YSD) developed a Request for 
Proposals (RFP’s) assisting in four (4) of the Action Areas: 

1. Economic Access 
2. Parenting & Role Models 
3. Social & Emotional Learning Supports through quality out-of-school programs  
4. Ensure safety and justice by providing alternatives to crime and gangs  

 
 
YSD advertised the RFP on April 3, 2017 and is soliciting qualifying non-profit organizations 
and Community Based Agencies (CBA) to submit a proposal.  
 
 



  

Analysis: 
The Youth Programs Division requests City Council approval to submit the RFP to the Palm 
Beach County Youth Services Department related to Action Area 3: Social and Emotional 
Learning Supports through quality out-of-school programs. The focus will be middle and 
high school youth, where participants are 12-18 years of age, and no longer qualify for Early 
Learning Coalition funding. There are very few, quality out-of-school programs for young 
teens, and those that exist (like the City’s Cool Zone program) have historically received 
less or no funding and little support. Palm Beach County YSD wants to address this 
disparity by making $2 million dollars in grant funding available through this RFP. 
 
Evidence-based programs and/or best practice should produce outcomes and performance 
measures that improve:  

(1) Academic, social and emotional benefits to youth, including higher grades and 
test scores, development of social skills, reduced drop-out rates, and increased 
attendance; and provide 
(2) Safe, accessible and engaging place to go after school and during the summer to 
prevent risky behaviors and promote health and wellness.  

 
Financial: 
The Youth Programs Division is working on the RFP budget between $60,000 - $100,000, 
to be used for personnel expenses and operating costs in order to effectively serve 25 
middle school students and 15 high school students for a 12 month period (school days, 
spring, summer and winter camps).  
 
The RFP narrative and budget document is being developed and will be ready for the City 
Manager’s review and approval by April 25, 2017. The submittal date for the RFP is April 
28, 2017, with the fiscal year being October 1, 2017 – September 30, 2018, and there is a 
potential 2-year renewal.   
 
Legal:   
The Resolution has been prepared in accordance with City Code requirements. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Approval of Resolution No. 2017-20 authorizing the Youth Programs Division to submit the 
RFP to Palm Beach County’s Youth Services Department for FY2018.  
 
 
_______________________ 
Michele Thompson 
Leisure Services Director 
 
Attachments: Resolution No. 2017-20 
  Exhibit A – FY18 RFP for Community Based Agencies with Sample  
  Agreement 

Exhibit B – Highlights from the Youth Master Plan: “Strengthening the  
Steps to Success”  
Exhibit C –“ATTACHMENT 3” Social and Emotional Learning Supports 
through quality Out-of-School Programs     



RESOLUTION NO. 2017-22 
 
 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA, 
AUTHORIZING THE RENAMING OF GREENACRES COMMUNITY 
PARK TO SAMUEL J. FERRERI COMMUNITY PARK, IN  HONOR OF 
FORMER MAYOR SAMUEL J. FERRERI’S 35 YEARS OF SERVICE TO 
THE CITY; AND AUTHORIZING THE APPROPRIATE CITY OFFICIALS 
TO APPROVE THE RENAMING OF GREENACRES COMMUNITY PARK; 
AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
WHEREAS, in 1983, Mobil Land Development donated 32 acres of land to the City 

of Greenacres for an elementary school, a city park and a fire station; and 

WHEREAS, in 1984, the voters of Greenacres approved a bond issue to build the 

Fire Station and allocate funding for the park; and 

WHEREAS, from 1986 to 1988 the City negotiated with the Palm Beach County 

School Board on the site for an elementary school that allowed maximum space for a 

park; and 

WHEREAS, on November 9, 1990, Mayor Samuel J. Ferreri and the City Council 

of Greenacres opened and dedicated the beautiful all-purpose Community Park to the 

children and citizens of Greenacres; and 

WHEREAS, Mayor Ferreri was elected to the Greenacres City Council in 1982 and 

began serving as Mayor of the City of Greenacres in 1988; and  

WHEREAS, Mayor Ferreri began his involvement in local government to improve 

the quality of life in Greenacres with a focus on enhancing parks and recreation, the 

aesthetics of the City and making Greenacres a great place for families; and 

WHEREAS, at the dedication of Community Park Mayor Ferreri announced that 

“It’s been seven years of patience and waiting and today I almost feel like a seven year 

old, tugging at my father’s pants leg waiting for permission to cross the field.”   

 



Resolution No. 2017-22                                                                                           Page 2 

 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA, THAT:  

Section 1.  The City Council of the City of Greenacres hereby supports the 

renaming of Greenacres Community Park to Samuel J. Ferreri Community Park to 

acknowledge and honor Mayor Samuel J. Ferreri’s 35 years of dedicated service to the 

City.   

Section 2. This resolution shall be effective upon its adoption. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Resolution No. 2017-22                                                                                           Page 3 

 
 

RESOLVED AND ADOPTED this 17th day of April 2017. 

           Voted 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
Joel Flores      Paula Bousquet 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    Lisa Rivera 
City Clerk      Councilwoman, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Councilman, District II 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Councilwoman, District III 

 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Vacant 
       Councilmember - District IV 
 
 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 
 



 

 
 

CITY  OF  GREENACRES  
 

INTEROFFICE  MEMORANDUM 
2017.04JA1.03 

 
 
 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 
 

FROM: Andrea McCue, City Manager  
 

SUBJECT: Renaming of Greenacres Community Park  
Resolution 2017-22 

 

DATE:  April 10, 2017   

 

 
Background 
 

On March 20, 2017, Mayor Samuel J. Ferreri retired after having served the City of 
Greenacres and its residents for over 35 years.  Mayor Ferreri was elected to the Greenacres 
City Council in 1982, and began serving as Mayor in 1988.   
 
Mayor Ferreri began his involvement in local government to improve the quality of life in 
Greenacres with a focus on enhancing parks and recreation, the aesthetics of the City and 
making Greenacres a great place for families. 
 
At the March 20, 2017, Council meeting it was suggested that a City asset be renamed in 
honor of Mayor Ferreri and his years of service to the City.  On April 3, 2017, the City Council 
formally voted to rename the Greenacres Community Park to Samuel J. Ferreri Community 
Park.   
   
Analysis 
 

The City Council considered various locations to be renamed in honor of Mayor Ferreri 
including the Community Center and locations within the Center and Community Park.  
Based on Mayor Ferreri’s commitment during his time in office to enhancing parks and 
recreation in the City, the Council voted to rename Community Park in his honor on April 3, 
2017. 
 
Financial 
 

The only cost associated with this change would be the cost to replace the sign at the 
entrance to the park.  Pricing is currently underway for a new sign. 
 

Legal 
 

The resolution has been prepared in accordance with the City code requirements. 
 
 
 
 
 



201704JA1.03  Page 2 of 2 

 
 
Staff Recommendation 
 

Approval of Resolution No. 2017-22 authorizing the City to move forward with the renaming 
of the Greenacres Community Park to Samuel J. Ferreri Community Park.    
 
 
 
 
     

Andrea McCue 
City Manager 
 
 
 
AM/ja 
Attachment  



 
         
 
 
 
 

C I T Y OF G R E E N A C R E S 
INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

2017.04LJ7.01 

 
 

TO:                Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 

FROM: Michael Grimm, Chief Building Official 
 

SUBJECT: Building Department Report  
(March 9, 2017 – March 31, 2017)        

 
DATE: April 6, 2017 

 
1) ADMINISTRATION: 

a) Researched and completed one hundred eighty-two (182) public information 
requests.  

     
2) PERMITS/INSPECTIONS: 
 

PERMITS/INSPECTIONS DURING THIS 
PERIOD 

FYTD 
2017 

BUDGETED FOR 
FY 2017 

Building Permits Issued 165 1,178 2,100 

Inspections Performed 448 3,646 5,700 

Construction Value of 
Permits Issued 

$ 4,645,505 $ 20,312,721 $21,500,000 

CO’s Issued 1 38  

CC’s Issued 1 14  

Temporary CO’s Issued -0- 3  

Illicit  Discharge 
Inspections (Stormwater) 

-0- 25 
 

 
 

3) BUSINESS AND CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION: 
 

BUSINESS AND 
CONTRACTOR 
REGISTRATIONS 
FY2017 

NEW RENEWALS 
NOT 

RENEWED 
CANCELLED 

 

COUNT AMOUNT COUNT AMOUNT COUNT COUNT 

 Period YTD YTD Period YTD YTD YTD YTD 

Commercial 5 90 $ 18,657 2 417 $ 52,135 123 44 

Contractor & General 
Service Registration 

23 189 $ 175 -0- 43 $ 875  2 

Rental 7 47 $ 2,868 2 776 $ 29,574 59 47 

Home Based 3 61 $ 4,379 -0- 230 $ 16,419 92 32 

Insurance 
Registration 

-0- 6 $ 531 --0- 145 $ 12,834 36 8 



Memo: 2017.04LJ7.01 
 

2 

4) CODE ENFORCEMENT: 
 

 
5) PLAN REVIEW – PRINCIPAL NEW OR REMODEL PROJECTS: 

a) 6548 Forest Hill Blvd., 4,214 sq. ft. interior remodel for retail building.  Plans 
approved 2/1/17.  Waiting for a contractor. (Permit #  Bldg 2016-00002442) 

b) Peter Piper Pizza (3961 S. Jog Rd.), 9,833 sq. ft. interior remodel of former 
Family Dollar into a restaurant.  (Permit # Bldg 2017-00001056) 

c) Church of God (4615 Melaleuca Ln.), 4,800 sq. ft. addition.  (Permit # Bldg 
2017-00000242) 
 

6) PROJECTS IN PROGRESS – PRINCIPAL REMODELING/RENOVATION: 
a) Nissan Dealership, formerly Professional Golf Cart Corp FL (5353 Lake Worth 

Rd.), 50,625 sq.ft. new construction of a car dealership. Passed mechanical 
rough 3/10/17.  (Permit # Bldg 2016-00000154)  

b) Sai Baba Temple (4761 Myrtle Dr.), 8,408 sq.ft. new construction. Passed fire 
final 3/29/17.  (Permit B #2140097) 

c) Greenacres Community Center (501 Swain Blvd.), 11,031 sq.ft. Community 
Center Expansion. Temporary C/O issued 9/13/16. (Permit # Bldg 2015-
00001583)  

d) Jog Medical Center (3387 S. Jog Rd.), 17,376 sq.ft. to construct medical 
offices (shell only). Passed framing 3/24/17.  (Permit # Bldg 2015-00001566)  

e) Miami Grill (4513 Lake Worth Rd.), 1,929 sq.ft. remodel of interior dining 
room. Permit issued 6/17/16. (Permit # Bldg 2016-00000301) 

f) Church of God 7th Day (3535 S. Jog Rd.), 11,500 sq.ft. new church building. 
Failed footer inspection 8/19/16. (Permit # Bldg 2016-00002382) 

g) Dunkin Donuts (3098 S. Jog Rd.), 3,000 sq.ft. to construct new 
building.Temporary C/O extended through 2/11/17.  (Permit # Bldg 2015-
00000192) 

h) Dunkin Donuts (3098 S. Jog Rd.), Buttonwood Plaza, 1,596 sq.ft. interior 
build-out.  Temporary C/O extended through 2/11/17. (Permit # Bldg 2016-
00002068)  

CODE ENFORCEMENT DURING THIS 
PERIOD 

FYTD 2017 BUDGETED FOR FY 
2017 

Inspections Related to Active 
Code Cases 105 756 1,900 

New Cases Started 36   220    500 

Cases Complied 34 211  

Current Open Cases 199   

Fines Collected $ 4,650 $ 9,400  $ 40,000 

New Property Registrations 
(March) 
Amount due to City 

-0- 
-0- 

158 
$ 15,800 

 

Notices Sent (March) 70 384  

Illegal Signs Removed from 
right-of-ways (March) 

26 111  

Inspections Not Related to 
Active Code Cases (March) 

29 124  

Complaints Received and 
Investigated (March) 

54 265  

# of Lien Searches (March) 129 665  



Memo: 2017.04LJ7.01 
 

3 

i) Braman Honda (5200 Lake Worth Rd.), 9,387 sq.ft. service area addition. 
Passed lath inspection 3/29/17.  (Permit # Bldg 2016-00002143) 

j) McDonalds (6581 Forest Hill Blvd.), minor remodel to install “Create Your 
Own Station” digital kiosk. Permit issued 11/1/16.  (Permit # 2016-00002681) 

k) WaWa (6566 Lake Worth Rd.), 5,943 sq.ft. construction of a convenience 
store with gas station. Passed electric rough 3/15/17.  (Permit # Bldg 2016-
00001180) 

l) Soma Medical Building (6239 Lake Worth Rd.), 5,438 sq. ft.construction of a 
new medical building at newly annexed property previously Checkers Fast 
Food w/ drive-thru.  Passed column/tie beam 2/24/17.  (Permit # 2016-
00003000) 

m) Big Smile II (3935 S. Jog Rd.), 2,300 sq. ft. interior remodel for future dental 
office.  Passed mechanical final 3/29/17. (Permit # Bldg 2017-00000493) 

n) Ross Dress for Less (6810 Forest Hill Blvd.), 25,482 sq. ft. remodel of space 
previously occupied by Southeastern College.  Permit issued 1/19/17.  
Passed hurricane protection inspection 3/30/17. (Permit # Bldg 2016-
00002846) 

o) HC Smokehouse (4606 S Jog Rd.), 1,100 sq. ft. interior remodel.  Permit 
issued 1/31/17. Passed electric rough 3/14/17. (Permit # Bldg 2017-
00000628) 

p) Nissan Parking Garage (5353 Lake Worth Rd.), 121,884 sq. ft. construction 
of a 3 story parking garage.  Permit issued 3/24/17.  Passed footer inspection 
3/29/17.  (Permit #  Bldg 2017-00000391) 

q) T Mobile (6530 Lake Worth Rd), 2,167 sq. ft. remodel.  Approved.  Waiting for 
a contractor.  (Permit # Bldg 2017-00000988) 

r) Mattress Firm (6548 Lake Worth Rd), 4,214 sq. ft. remodel of a retail building.  
Waiting for contractor.  (Permit # Bldg 2016-00002442) 

 
7)      PROJECTS IN PROGRESS – PRINCIPAL NEW CONSTRUCTION: 

 

PROJECT ADDRESS/LOCATION 

UNITS OR 
SQ. FT. 

APPROVED 

UNITS 
C.O.’D 

Pine Grove 
Farm 
 

Two Pine Dr. 
( Riverbridge ) 41 39 

Verona 
Estates 

East of Haverhill, North of Nash 
Foxtail Palm Ct & Caranday Palm Dr 

53 53 

Harvest Pines Melaleuca Ln east of City Hall 35 34 

Reserve at 
Summit 

West side of Ranchette Rd, South of 
Summit Blvd 

73 40 

 



 

 

CITY OF GREENACRES 
 
 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 
2017.04RW2.01 

 
 
 
TO: Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 
FROM: James McInnis, Director of Finance  

SUBJECT: Department of Finance Activity Report  

DATE: April 10, 2017 

 
 
The following report provides the highlights of activity within the Department of Finance 
for the reporting period from March 1, 2017 through March 31, 2017. 
 
 
1.  AUDIT/BUDGET and FINANCE ADMINISTRATION: 
 

Projects and Activities: 
 
a. Reimbursement requests were submitted and received for the following grants: 

 Family Central, afterschool program   $   18,180.55 
 USDA Food, after school snack     $     1,443.08 

 
b. Reimbursement requests were submitted for the following grants: 

 FLC Safety Grant      $     6,000.00 
 

c. Voice Over IP – Projected to be ready to submit for Council approval in May. 
 
 
2.  FINANCE OPERATIONS: 
 

Projects and Activities: 
 
a. Integration of EMS Consultants’ Prestige ambulance billing software with Fire 

Rescue’s automated run tracking software SafetyPad. This integration will 
improve efficiencies in Finance Operations by automatically generating more 
than 250 monthly invoices for ambulance runs and eliminating the need to input 
each invoice manually. Cash flows will also be increased as invoices can be 
printed and mailed 7-14 days sooner than we are currently able. Period ending 
03/31/2017: Now working with SafetyPad vendor to get the XML files that will 
be converted to ambulance invoices. EMS Consultants will use these XML files 
to continue live testing of the integration solution. 

 
b. Audit/CAFR: 2016 CAFR was published and presented to Council on April 3, 

2017. 
 



2017.04RW2.01             Page 2 of 4 
                                                                                                                        April 10, 2017 
 

 

  YEAR-TO-DATE   

Activity Report for March 2017 FY17 Activity Report BUDGET 

ACTIVITY 
REPORT DATA 

CURRENT 
PERIOD 

TRANSACTIONS 

CURRENT 
PERIOD 

AMOUNT 
FY 2017 YTD  

TRANSACTIONS 
FY 2017 

YTD  
AMOUNT 

FY 2017 
BUDGET 

TRANSACTIONS 

A/P Invoices 
Processed for 
Payment 

418  $1,704,967 1,844  $9,463,536 3,700 

ACH Payments 10  $441,504 83  $2,242,772 45 
Payroll Checks 
Issued 4  

$700,629 
13  

$4,217,559 
40 

Payroll Direct 
Deposits 277  1,742  3,640 

Cashier Pmts 
Processed 1,184  $1,824,977 9,150  $15,531,530 22,000 

Solid Waste Bills 
Issued 1,049  $4,941 16,158  $731,151 13,700 

Initial Ambulance 
Invoices 352  $252,898 1,552  $1,094,164 3,200 

 
3.  INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY: 

 
Projects and Activities: 
 
a. Voice Over IP Phone System – This is a cloud-based voice solution. IT has 

spoken with various vendors and has requested proposals that will be reviewed 
and analyzed. The primary benefit is to reduce the monthly AT&T phone bill 
and for IT to have full control of phone features.  The survey for phone selection 
has been sent to all departments. (Staff Review) 

 
b. Apple iPad Implementation – The City is implementing the use of iPads for 

Council Members and selected staff.  IT assisted with the deployment and 
training of iPads, managed by Meraki Mobile Device Management (MDM). IT is 
currently rebuilding the connectivity between the iPads and Meraki. 

 
c. New Domain Name – The City will be implementing a new domain name. The 

website and email addresses with the new domain name have been 
implemented. 

 
d. The IT Division has finished evaluating a new WiFi access point, which 

provides internal network connectivity using domain logins, and will be 
upgrading existing access points. 

e. Assisting PBSO with data extraction from the Public Safety AS400. 

f. Currently working with Aha Consulting on the Intranet. 

g. Evaluated Live Stream Meeting on the internet. 

 



2017.04RW2.01             Page 3 of 4 
                                                                                                                        April 10, 2017 
 

 

DEPARTMENT CURRENT 
PERIOD FY 2017 YTD FY 2017 

BUDGET 
    
Technical Service Requests:    

Administration 15 78  
Building 6 21 - 
Finance 5 26 - 
Planning & Engineering 5 14 - 
Public Works 3 7 - 
Fire Rescue 5 21 - 
Leisure Services 12 57 - 

Total Technical Service Requests 51 224 450 
Computer Training Sessions Conducted 0 5 5 
No. of Computer Training Attendees 0 45 20 

 
 
4.  PURCHASING AND CONTRACTING: 
 

Projects and Activities: 
 
a. 17-001 Website Design, Development and Implementation – Working with Aha 

Consulting and City Departments to develop the overall theme and design of 
the City website. Went live on Monday, April 3, 2017. 

 
b. 17-003 Original Section Drainage Improvements, Phase 3 First Street East – 

This bid was advertised on February 12, 2017 and opened on March 15, 2017 
with five (5) bids received. The proposals have been evaluated and Purchasing 
is working on the agreement.  

 
c. 17-004 Public Safety Renovations Phase 2 – This bid was advertised on 

January 22, 2017 and opened on February 22, 2017 with three (3) bids 
received. City Council approved the award to Azulejo, Inc. at the meeting held 
on March 20, 2017 and Purchasing is working on the agreement.  

 
d. 17-005 Marquee Signs – This bid was advertised on February 26, 2017 and 

opened on March 23, 2017 with five (5) bids received. The proposals are 
currently under evaluation. 

 
e. Fire Promotional Examination - Request for Quotes developed and 

administered by Purchasing. 
 

f. Employee Assistance Program – Request for Quote in the progress of being 
developed by Purchasing. The received quotes are currently under evaluation.  

 
g. Removal of Disposal and Replacement of various lighting fixtures throughout 

the City – Assisted Acting Building Services Supervisor with multiple Request 
for Quotes. 

 
 
 



2017.04RW2.01             Page 4 of 4 
                                                                                                                        April 10, 2017 
 

 

ACTIVITY CURRENT 
PERIOD 

FY 2017 
YTD 

FY 2017 
BUDGET 

    
Purchase Orders Issued 101 548 1,050 
Purchase Order Amounts $ 164,464.24 $ 17,409,658.77 $ 16,850,000 
Bids/RFPs Issued 0 3 9 
RFQs Issued 3 15 n/a 
Central Store Requests 11 54 100 
Contracts Managed 28 28 28 
Purchasing Card Purchases $ 25,811.50 $ 109,777.25 $ 185,000 
Purchasing Card Transactions 303 1,271 2,150 
No. of Training Sessions Conducted 0 3 3 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
James McInnis 
Director of Finance 
 
JM/rw 

 



Page 1 of 4 

       CITY OF GREENACRES 
INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

2017.04MT6.005 
 

 
TO:  Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 
FROM: Michele Thompson, Leisure Services Director 
 
RE:  Department Report for March 11, 2017 through April 7, 2017 
 
DATE: April 10, 2017 
 
  
1. ADMINISTRATION 

PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT THIS  
PERIOD 

 FY 2017 
 TO DATE 

FY 2017 
BUDGET 

Contracts Coordinated  (2 with ELC) 0 0 4 

Collaborative Partnerships  2 16 20 

Ind. Contractor Agreements 3 19 23 

Events Coordinated 1 12 15 

Citizen Requests Processed 
 (Admin, Community Ctr & YP) 

1,785 9,739 25,200 

 
 
2.  COMMUNITY & RECREATION SERVICES 

ACTIVITY SPONSORS/ 
PARTNERS 

 FY 2017 
TO DATE 

FY 2017 
BUDGET 

Community Events: 

• Food Truck Invasion (Monthly) 
 

• Movie on the Field (11/4/16) 
 

• Lunch with Santa (12/10/16) 
o (Co-sponsored event) 

 

• Fiesta de Pueblo (1/7/17) 
o (Co-sponsored event) 
 

• The Royal Ball (1/21/17) 
 

• Salute to Spring Concerts 
(3/10/17 & 3/11/2017) 
 

• Egg’stravaganza (4/15/17) 
 

• “Ignite the Night” (7/4/17)  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Adv. Disposal-
$2,000 

Local Businesses 
and Organizations 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Kiwanis Club-$250 
Future Kids- $2,000 
Helix Urgent Care - 

$250 
 

Adv. Disposal -
$2,000 

 
1,000 

 

60 
 
 

600+ 
 
 
 
 
 

Cancelled 
 

75 

 
$2,100 

 
$2,363 

 
 

$5,889 
 
 

$2,085 
 
 

$4,477 
 

$5,819 
 
 

$11,740 
 
 

$29,665 
 



Page 2 of 4 

Neighborhood Events:  

• Thanksgiving Dinner (11/23/16) 

• Back-to-School  (8/5/17) 

 

$100 – Wes Kain 
$500 – Helix 
Local Businesses 

 

600 
 

$2,138 
$2,138 

 

# of Senior Trips (5): 

• 1/11/17, 2/1/17, 3/8/17 & 
4/19/17 

 
Broward Stage 

Door Theatre (0) 
 

 

 
40 

 
55 
 

Avg. # of daily participants/meals 
served at Senior Meal Program 

 
20/400 

 
7,439 

 
N/A 

Facility Rentals: 

• Fields/Concession Stands 

• Pavilions 

• Center Room Rentals 

This Period 
           34 

21 
28 

 
520 
99 

298 

1,594 
482 
100 

1,012 

Total Rental Revenue Generated $8,461.38 $49,914.04 $145,427 

Youth Leagues: 
 

• Co-ed Fall Soccer  
(8/8/16 - 12/16/16) 

• Co-ed Basketball  
 (9/26/16-3/11/17) 

• Co-ed Spring Soccer  
(1/30/17 - 5/20/17)  
 
*2-Year $500 Sponsorship with 
Helix Urgent Care! 

This Period 
 
- 
 
- 
 

17 
 
 

 
 

103 
 

121 
 

98 

401 
 

100 
 

120 
 

180 
  

  
 
3.    YOUTH PROGRAMSPROGRAMS 

PROGRAM  
(Hours of Operation) 

DAYS HOURS 

CARES Monday - Friday (school days) 2:00 - 6:00 p.m. 

Cool Zone Monday - Friday (school days) 4:30 - 6:30 p.m. 

Hot Spot Monday - Friday (mentors) 
1st and 3rd Friday and Saturday 

3:30 - 6:30 p.m. 
6:00 - 10:00 p.m. 

PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 
# of Students Enrolled 

AVERAGE 
THIS 

PERI0D 

FY 2017  
TO DATE 

FY 2017 
BUDGET 

Daily Attendance (CARES & Cool Zone) 95 109 150  

• CARES 79 89 120 

• Cool Zone  

• Hot Spot 

16 
8 

20 
25 

30 
25 

Daily Transportation  90 103 150 

• 5 Elementary Schools 74 85 120 

• 3 Middle Schools 16 18 30 

• Parent Drop-off 5 6 5 

# of Participants-Youth Delegates in Action 10 10 15 

# of Participants in Life Skills Training Prog. 10 10 15 

# of Participants in Mentor Program 9 25 15 



Page 3 of 4 

# of Presidential Volunteer Service Hours 
(calculated from Jan-Dec) 

320 3,451 hrs 3,100 hrs 

PROGRAM PARTICIPATION THIS 
PERIOD 

FY 2017  
TO DATE 

FY 2017 
BUDGET 

Grants/Licenses Coordinated: 

• Early Learning Coalition  

• Registration and Parent fees   

• Dept. of Health Child Care Food Program 

 
$18,180.55 
$9,677.00 
$1,405.24 

 
$83,048.09 
$47,267.40 
$4,486.62 

 
$355,736 
$174,758 
$11,400 

Service Agreements Coordinated  0   0 4 

• Youth Programs completed their annual Quality Improvement System (QIS) 

assessment; CARES scored a 4.77; Cool Zone scored a 4.12; and the 

Administrative assessment resulted in a score of 4.82.  The City’s program 

continues one of the highest rated within the 122 programs countywide. 

• Youth Programs’ Spring Camp ended Friday, March 24, 2017. Field Trips and 

activities included; Digital Vibez & Energized games (on-site physical exercise 

activities), Loggerhead Marine Life Center, Monkey Joes, CiCi’s Pizza and 

Boomers. 

• On Saturday April 1, 2017; ten (10) CARES participants attended another 

educational Sierra Club ICO trip to Fairchild Tropical Gardens in Miami. 

Participants were treated to a tour of the gardens, as well as breakfast and lunch 

free of charge.  

• The City’s Youth Programs Division has been selected as one of five (5) 
municipalities for the $4,000 Fit2Play grant from the FL Recreation & Parks 
Association and the University of Miami Miller’s School of Medicine. Training for 
this evidence-based program begins early in May. 

4. GENERAL 

• Wednesday, March 29, 2017 marked another successful food truck invasion with 
over 700 guests. A DJ provided great entertainment and picnic tables provided 
by the Public Works Department added much needed seating for the event.  

• The Leisure Services event team has a meeting and tour scheduled with Wawa’s 
General Manager and Community Services Coordinator on Monday, April 10, 
2017 to discuss community partnership opportunities! 

• A new $1,000 sponsorship agreement with Helix Urgent Care was executed for  
four (4) events and two (2) basketball seasons.  

• The Egg’stravaganza event is scheduled for Saturday, April 15, 2017 from 10:00 
a.m. – 1:30 p.m. at Community Park featuring age appropriate egg patches, a 
free hay ride, obstacles course, bounce house and prize baskets, a Spring 
bonnet and bowtie contest (guest judges for the contest are still needed) and the 
Easter Bunny!  

• Plans are underway for the City’s Independence Day celebration, Ignite the 
Night, on July 4, 2017 from 5:30 – 10:00 p.m. at Community Park featuring live 
entertainment by The Groove, food vendors, inflatable amusements, and the 
fireworks display by Zambelli.   



Page 4 of 4 

• The next Food Truck Invasion is scheduled for Wednesday, April 26th at 
Community Park from 5:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. with new trucks arriving monthly, 
along with all of the tried and true favorites. 
 

CITY EVENTS DATE/TIME LOCATION 

“Salute to Spring” Concert  

Friday, March 10, 2017  
6:00 - 9:00 p.m. 

Sat., March 11, 2017  
3:00 – 10:00 p.m. 

Community Park  

Egg’stravaganza  
April 15, 2017 

10:00 a.m. – 1:30 p.m. 
Community Park  

Food Truck Invasion 

April 26, 2017 
May 31, 2017  
June 28, 2017 
July 26, 2017 

August 30, 2017 
September 27, 2017  

5:00 - 9:00 p.m. 

Community Park 

Independence Day 
Celebration “Ignite the Night” 

July 4, 2017 
5:30 – 10:00 p.m. 

Community Park  

“Back-to-School” Event    
August 5, 2017 

12:00 – 3:00 p.m. 
 Community Center 

 
 
 
 
___________________________ 

Michele Thompson, CPRP 
Director of Leisure Services 



 
C I T Y O F G R E E N A C R E S  

 INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 
 2017.04EB3.001 

 
 
 
TO:  Andrea McCue, City Manager 

 
FROM:  Kara L. Irwin-Ferris, Planning and Engineering Director 
 
SUBJECT:  Planning and Engineering Department Report 
 
DATE:  April 10, 2017 
 
Listed below are the items currently under review by the Planning and Engineering 
Department for the reporting period March 14, 2017 through April 10, 2017. 
 
NEW CASES 
 
Greenacres Plaza 

A request by the owner for a class I site plan amendment (PCD-84-01S) to modify 
the previously approved color scheme.  The site is located on the northwest 
corner of South Jog Road and Lake Worth Road. 

Wawa 
A request by the owner for a class I site plan amendment (SP-15-06B) to modify 
the parking spaces located around the building on the site.  The site is located at 
the southwest corner of the intersection of Lake Worth Road and South Jog Road.  

  
CURRENT PLANNING CASES  
 
4450 South Jog Road 

A request by the owner for an annexation (ANX-16-04) of 1 parcel of land totaling 
approximately 0.85 acres, a change in the future land use designation (CPA-16-
06) from Palm Beach County Low Residential 1 (LR 1) to City Commercial (CM), 
and a zoning change (ZC-16-03) from Palm Beach County Single Family 
Residential (RS) to City Commercial General (CG).  The site is located on the 
east side of S. Jog Road approximately 350 feet south of Pine Avenue at 4450 
South Jog Road.  (Awaiting receipt of response to LDS comments of September 
13, 2016) 

4644 Lake Worth Road (Dunkin Donuts) 
A City-initiated change in the future land use (CPA-17-01) and zoning designation 
(ZC-17-01) of the parcel annexed into the City as part of ANX-16-03.  The City is 
proposing to apply City Land Use and Zoning designations for the parcel.  
(Scheduled for LDS review meeting on February 9, 2017) 

5985 10th Avenue N. – SP-84-08A 
A request by the owner for a class I site plan amendment to modify the existing 
site plan by adding 11 additional parking spaces to accommodate the parking 
demand for the subject site.  The site is located at 5985 10th Avenue North. 
(Scheduled for LDS meeting on March 9, 2017) 



Planning & Engineering Department Report 
March 14, 2017 through April 10, 2017 

    Page 2 
 
 

NW Corner of Chickasaw & Jog Road 
A request by the owner for a voluntary annexation (ANX-13-03) of 2 parcels of 
land totaling approximately 0.47 acres, along with a change in the future land use 
designation (CPA-13-04) from Palm Beach County Low Residential 3 (LR 3) to 
City Mixed Use (MU) and a zoning designation change (ZC-13-04) from PBC 
Agricultural Residential (AR) to City Mixed Use Development-Office (MXD-O).  
The site is located on the northwest corner of Chickasaw Road and S. Jog Road.  
(Staff review) 

ANX-08-01 
Annexation into the City of various road rights-of-way per Interlocal Annexation 
Agreement (ANX-07-05). (Staff review) 

Bethesda Tabernacle  
A request by the owner for a variance (BA-15-07), a request for a site and 
development plan approval (SP-99-04A) to modify the previously approved site 
plan to add additional offices, and a special exception (SE-15-05) to expand the 
existing House of Worship use and add a school facility at 4901 Lake Worth Road 
by demolishing the existing building and constructing a new building to the north.  
(Awaiting traffic report to meet sufficiency for review) 

Peter Piper Pizza 
A request by the applicant for a special exception (SE-17-01) to allow an Indoor 
Recreational Amusement in an existing 10,000 sq. ft. tenant bay within the 
Greenacres Plaza development currently zoned Commercial Intensive (CI).  The 
site is located at Northwest corner of S. Jog Road and Lake Worth Road. 
(Scheduled for the Planning Commission meeting on April 19, 2017) 

Coordinated School Planning Amendments (CPA-16-05) 
A request by the Planning & Engineering Department for amendments to 
implement the new coordinated school planning agreement.  (Transmitted to 
Department of Economic Opportunity at the City Council meeting on March 20, 
2017) 

Ministries in Bethel 
A request by the owner of the existing child care center / preschool at 3950 S. 57th 
Avenue in the Commercial Intensive (CI) zoning district for a Special Exception 
(SE-16-01) and Site Plan (SP-84-12A) to construct an approximately 6,940 
square foot House of Worship for Ministries in Bethel.  (Staff Review) 

Santa Catalina 
A request by the owner for a variance (BA-17-04) to Chapter 12, Article III, 
Section 12-67, Streets and Parking area, to allow a variance to the minimum 
design standards for Subgrade material for a parking area.   
 

SITE PLAN AMENDMENTS 
 
Lynora's 

A request by the owner for a class III site plan amendment (SE-80-11B) to add 
208 sq. ft. to the existing building; replace roof with a flat roof; increase building 
height by 2 feet and change use to office space.  The site is located at 5283 Lake 
Worth Road.  (Transmittal of Class III Site Plan Amendment for seven (7) day 
review period) 



Planning & Engineering Department Report 
March 14, 2017 through April 10, 2017 

    Page 3 
 
 

Santa Catalina 
A request by the owner for a site plan amendment to modify the previously 
approved site plan of the pool area requirements.  The site is located at 3145, 
3197 and 3229 S. Jog Road.  (Staff review) 

 
Text Amendment 
 
ZTA-16-05 

A city-initiated request for a text amendment to revise Building heights based on 
comments from the City Council workshop on October 24, 2016.  (Staff Review) 

 
Residential 
 
Whitney Park (aka Bowman Pines) 

Plat application received on June 9, 2015 and comments received from Craven 
Thompson on June 30, 2016 and August 18, 2015.  The project did not move 
forward pending a contract for sale to DR Horton.  The Plat was approved by City 
Council on December 5, 2016.  Permits have been issued for site construction 
and the developer is in the process of doing off-site improvements for water and 
sewer infrastructure.  The applicant has submitted permit applications for all 24 
single-family homes. 

Harvest Pines 
The Plat for this 35-unit single-family residential development and acceptance of 
park site deed were approved at the City Council meeting on April 20, 2015 and 
engineering permit was subsequently issued.  Site civil engineering work is 
complete. Site clearing and stormwater drainage, installation of water and sewer 
piping, internal roads, and the sales models are complete.  Construction of homes 
is underway in the subdivision and 33 Certificates of Occupancy have been 
issued to date.  Traffic Control Jurisdictional Agreement (TCJA) was approved at 
the City Council meeting on February 6, 2017. 

Las Ramblas 
Plat application received on October 19, 2016 and comments received from 
Craven Thompson on October 28.  The Plat was approved at the February 6, 
2017 City Council meeting.  Permits have been issued for site construction and 
the developer has requested master model approval for the building home sites.  

Pine Grove Farm 
Except for 2 vacant lots, all work has been completed. 

Reserve at Summit  
Plat for this 73-unit single-family residential development was approved at the July 
6, 2015 City Council meeting and engineering permit and clearing permit have 
been issued.  Site clearing and stormwater drainage, installation of water and 
sewer piping, internal roads, and the sales models are complete.  Construction of 
homes is underway in the subdivision and 40 Certificates of Occupancy have 
been issued.  The Recreation parcel has been completed. 

Santa Catalina 
Plat application received on December 9, 2016. The Plat was approved at the 
February 6, 2017 City Council meeting.  Permits have been issued for site 



Planning & Engineering Department Report 
March 14, 2017 through April 10, 2017 

    Page 4 
 
 

construction. 
Verona Estates 

Site development and all offsite work (Nash Trail) are complete.  The sales model 
has been removed and 52 Certificates of Occupancy have been issued, and the 
remaining unit (1) is complete, but not certified.  The 10% maintenance bond for 
the project has been released and the file is in the process of being closed-out. 

 
Commercial 
 
Braman Honda 

Revised replat under review.  Construction of the vehicle storage lot is complete.  
Permit application for the recently approved service department expansion (SP-
97-06G) received and under review. 

Church of God 7th Day 
Building permit and engineering permit are issued.  Construction is underway. 

Family Dollar 
Plat was approved on July 18, 2016 and building permits issued.  Site work is 
completed and the Final Certificate of Occupancy has been issued. 

Greenacres Nissan 
Developer closed on purchase of the property on October 21, 2015.  Plat 
approved on May 16, 2016 and engineering permit issued immediately thereafter.  
Building permit issued July 7, 2016.  Site and building construction are underway.  
A Permit Revision was submitted for the addition of the garage, but was denied 
until the applicant revised the lighting plan for the top of the structure. 

Jog Professional  
Sewer installation complete.  Building and engineering permits issued.  
Preconstruction meeting with contractor and City staff held on March 20, 2016.  
Building construction is well under way, with roof trusses and sheathing installed. 

Racetrac 
Racetrac was approved by City Council on March 6, 2017, awaiting receipt of 
building permits. 

Soma Medical Center 
Building and engineering permits issued for the project and construction is 
underway. 

Shirdi Sai Baba Temple 
Building, engineering, and County road permits issued.  Installation of utilities and 
drainage is complete as well as the building walls and roof.  Site buffer wall is 
complete.  Reconstruction of Raulerson Drive (access road to Temple) is 
underway, with drainage and some of the sidewalk installed.  The site cannot get 
a Certificate of Occupancy until the roadway is complete and accepted by Palm 
Beach County. 

Wawa 
Plat application received on July 19, 2016, and after review, the Plat was 
approved by City Council on October 17, 2016, as “Bright Acres Plat”.  A 
demolition, Engineering, and Building permit have been issued for the site and 
construction activity is underway.  
 



Planning & Engineering Department Report 
March 14, 2017 through April 10, 2017 

    Page 5 
 
 

Capital Improvements 
 
Community Center Expansion 

Project was advertised for bids on June 28, 2015.  Bids were received on July 29, 
2015 and City Council awarded the project to Sisca Construction Services, LLC 
on September 3, 2015.  The project is substantially complete.  Punch list 
completion and final close out submittals remain pending. 

Original Section Drainage Improvement – Phase 2 
An engineering study of existing conditions and potential improvements was 
completed.  The project was divided into 6 phases and is being funded in part with 
Community Development Block Grant Funds. The first phase of improvements 
(First Street between the E-3 Canal and Swain Boulevard) has been completed.  
Bid Proposals were received on March 30, 2016 for Phase 2 (alleys in the 
southwest quadrant).  The City Council awarded the project to Johnson Davis on 
June 6, 2016, with Notice to Proceed issued on June 8, 2016 and contract start 
date was June 15, 2016.  FPL cooperation on March 3, 2017 allowed Phase 2 
work to proceed.  Substantial completion was projected by Johnson Davis to be 
within two weeks. 

Original Section Drainage Improvement – Phase 3 
Phase 3 was advertised on February 12, 2017.  On March 15, 2017 five (5) bids 
were received and opened.  City Council to award bid on May 1, 2017 to the 
apparent low bidder Hinterland Group, Inc. 

Public Safety Building Renovation 
This project provides for the renovation of 2995 South Jog Road in Phase 1 to 
modify building access to address effects of the contract with PBSO for law 
enforcement services and in Phase 2 to adapt the former dispatch center to meet 
Fire Department functional needs.  Due to the cost of the work, a competitive 
bidding process was required. On February 22, 2017 three bids were received.  
The City Council on March 20, 2017 awarded the bid to the lowest bidder, 
Azulejo, Inc. 
 
 

 
 



Planning & Engineering Department Report 
March 14, 2017 through April 10, 2017 

    Page 6 
 
 

FY 2017 Data: 

 

 
 

 CURRENT FY 2017 FY 2017 

 PERIOD TO DATE BUDGET 

Annexations 0 0 2 

Comprehensive Plan Amendments 1 2 5 

Zoning Changes 0 0 5 

Special Exceptions 2 5 5 

Site Plans 1 2 5 

Site Plan Amendments 1 8 15 

Variances 2 4 4 

Zoning Text Amendments 1 2 2 

 CURRENT FY 2017 FY 2017 

 PERIOD TO DATE BUDGET 

Landscaping  12 94 182 

Zoning 5 52 95 

Engineering 13 63 92 



 

1 | P a g e  
 

CITY OF GREENACRES 
INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

2017.4IC5.001 

 

TO:             Andrea McCue, City Manager 

FROM:       Mark Pure, Fire Chief 

RE:             Departmental Report for March 6, 2017 through April 2, 2017 

DATE:        April 11, 2017 

 
Total alarms dispatched 505 

 

In March 2017, 365 patients were treated for Emergency Medical related services. Of 
those patients, 36 were in the City of Atlantis. These requests include a single unit 
responding to assist a person who has fallen to the floor, a cardiac arrest requiring 
multiple units and a combination of personnel, advanced skills, and equipment.  
 
Service Calls, Cancels, and Public Assists totaled 82 requests and include, but are not 
limited to, persons locked out of home, water evacuation, problems with animals, police 
assistance, defective elevator, and canceled due to a wrong address. 

 
Fire Rescue transported 257 patients to a hospital in the month of March. That amounts 
to 70% of the patients we were called to treat. The majority of those (191) required 
Advanced Life Support procedures.  

234

131

36

0

50

100

150

200

250

Station 94 Station 95 Atlantis

Total Patients March 2017 

126

65

17
45

21
6

0

50

100

150

Station 94 Station 95 Atlantis

ALS/BLS

ALS Transports BLS Transports



 

2 | P a g e  
 

ALS emergencies necessitate additional personnel, specialized equipment and skills. 
Frequently, an EMT or Paramedic will be taken from the ALS Engine to accompany the 
one person in the rear of the Rescue to assist with lifesaving treatment.  

 
 
Fire Rescue responded to 40 calls for a fire or smoke related emergency. Eleven (11) of 
those required an escalated response due to car, brush, or refuse fire. Four (4) of which 
were in a residential or commercial structure.  
 

 
Mutual aid is the sending or receiving of emergency resources (apparatus, personnel) to 
or from another entity or agency upon request.  No community has sufficient resources 
to handle every emergency. Therefore, neighboring agencies work together through a 
system called mutual aid. Mutual aid is designed to be limited to large events that tax the 
resources beyond the normal capabilities of the community. During the month of March, 
the Department provided aid one time while we received aid six times.  

73

54
44

32
39

20
14 11 14 12

0

20

40

60

80

Sick
person

Car
Accident

Fall with
Injury

Cardiac Difficulty
Breathing

Abdominal
Pain

Assault Seizures Stroke Overdose

Major Incident Types 

3
1 0

5
2

0

18

11

2

0

5

10

15

20

Station 94 Station 95 Atlantis

Fire Responses 

Structure Fires Car, Refuse, Brush Fires Other Fire Related Calls (Smoke Scare, Alarms)

1
0

5

1

0

2

4

6

Station 94 Station 95

Mutual Aid

Mutual Aid Given Mutual Aid Received



 

3 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
Fire Prevention and Protection focuses on protecting people and property from fire 
through fire safety inspections, plan reviews, fire cause and origin investigations, and 
public education. In addition, the Fire Marshal provides fire safety lectures, attends land 
development meetings, and testifies at code enforcement hearings.  
 

 

 
Greenacres Fire Rescue provides presentations, tours and blood pressure screenings 
upon request. 
 

Station Tours, presentations, blood 
pressure screenings 

12 

 
On March 1st, Greenacres Fire Rescue participated in a Fire Rescue Demonstration at 
John I Leonard High School for their Medical Academy students; and on March 11th, 
several members participated in the annual St Patrick’s Day Parade in Delray Beach.  
 

 

Inspections 139 

Plans Review 13 

Dollar Loss due to fire  $20,200.00 

127

12 17

0

50

100

150

Greenacres Inspections Atlantis Inspections Plan Review

Fire Marshal 



Page 1 of 4 

CITY OF GREENACRES 
 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 
#2017.04LN4.01 

 
TO:  Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 
FROM: Carlos Cedeño, Public Works Director 
 
RE:  Public Works Department Report 
 
DATE: April 10, 2017     
 
   

Listed below is a brief summary of the activities undertaken by the Public Works 
Department during the period of March1, 2017 through March 31, 2017. 
 
1. ADMINISTRATION: 

 
a. Applied for and awarded 30 recycling bins from 2017 Dr. Pepper Snapple 

Public Space Recycling Bin Grant program. 
b. Coordinated Managing Change & Accountability class for Department. 
c. Passed Florida Department of Health – Palm Beach County Hazardous 

Waste Generator inspection. 
d. Director and Secretary attended Joint 11A/GFGOA Construction Auditing 

Seminar. 
e. Director hosted APWA Gold Coast Chapter meeting and luncheon. 

  

ACTIVITY COMMENTS 
03/01/17 – 
03/31/17 

FISCAL YEAR 
TO DATE 

FY2017 
BUDGET 

Annual Licenses and 
Reports Submitted  

NPDES 1 5 7 

Citizen Requests 
Processed 

 (16) recycling bins,  
(1) general requests,  

(2) complaints 
19 148 225 

 
2. ROADS AND DRAINAGE MAINTENANCE  

 
a. Staff attended Managing Change & Accountability class. 
b. Re-sodded 4050 s.f. of right-of-way on Seven Springs Blvd. 
c. Supervisor attended Joint 11A/GFGOA Construction Auditing Seminar. 

 

ACTIVITY COMMENTS 
03/01/17 – 
03/31/17 

FISCAL YEAR 
TO DATE 

FY2017 
BUDGET 

Maintenance of  
Traffic Control Signs 
(1,222)  

Installed (18) No Parking 
signs on Seven Springs 

Blvd, (2) No Parking 
signs on Sherwood 

Forest Blvd, and  

27 51 N/A 



Page 2 of 4 

ACTIVITY COMMENTS 
03/01/17 – 
03/31/17 

FISCAL YEAR 
TO DATE 

FY2017 
BUDGET 

(7) No Parking signs on 
Empire Way 

Medians Maintained 
(72) 

Jog Rd, 10th Ave N., 
Forest Hill Blvd., Lake 
Worth Rd., 57th Ave. 

7 49 N/A 

R-O-W Litter Removal City Streets 4 23 N/A 

R-O-W Landscape 
Maintenance 

City Streets 1 12 N/A 

Stormwater Inlets, 
Outfalls, Control 
Structures, & Manholes 
Maintained (645)  

Cleaned Ribbon Gutters 
in Villa Del Trio, jetted 

and cleaned Inlets #23-
162A, 23-162B, 23-100, 

25-46A & 25046B 

6 12 114 

Trees on medians, 
right-of-ways, & green 
areas maintained 
(1,986) 

Trimmed (5) Sabal 
palms and (3) Oaks on 

Empire Way. 
8 1075 1171 

Landscape 
Maintenance Retention 
Ponds/Lakes 

Ramblewood, 
Harwich, Gladiator, 
Empire, Centurian 

1 2 N/A 

Alleyway Maintenance  5.56 Miles 4 17 N/A 

Underground utility 
locate ticket requests 

N/A 76 356 550 

 
3. VEHICLE MAINTENANCE  

 
a. Staff attended Managing Change & Accountability class. 
b. Supervisor attended 2017 FLAGFA Spring Conference. 
c. Received and equipped new Building Department Code Compliance truck 

(CIP Project #304-088). 
 

ACTIVITY COMMENTS 
03/01/17 – 
03/31/17 

FISCAL YEAR 
TO DATE 

FY2017 
BUDGET 

Inspections  

(5) Fuel storage tanks, (6) 
generators, (1) hazardous 
materials inspection at Fire 
Rescue Station 94/PBSO 

District 16 

26 129 N/A 

Repair Orders 
Completed 

(15) Fire & Medic trucks, 
(19) Public Works trucks, 

(4) Building trucks, 
 (2) Eng vehicle,  

(1) Leisure Svc vans,  
(25) small engine 

equipment, (12) L.S. buses 
and (1) Generator 

79 394 800 

Preventive 
Maintenance 
Performed 

(1) Public Works truck,  
(2) Finance vans,  

(2) small engine equipment 
5 42 190 



Page 3 of 4 

ACTIVITY COMMENTS 
03/01/17 – 
03/31/17 

FISCAL YEAR 
TO DATE 

FY2017 
BUDGET 

Service Calls 
 (2) Public Works trucks, 

 (2) small engine equipment 
4 15 N/A 

 
4. BUILDING SERVICES   
  

a. Staff attended Managing Change & Accountability class. 
b. Installed (2) new security lights in Rambo Park. 
c. Performed annual preventive maintenance on bus shelters. 
d. Performed annual preventive maintenance on water fountains. 
e. Reset (38) timers/clocks for Daylight Savings time. 
f. Set up and broke down for Charter Review Committee meeting. 

 

ACTIVITY COMMENTS 
03/01/17 – 
03/31/17 

FISCAL 
YEAR TO 

DATE 

FY2017 
BUDGET 

HVAC Systems (36)  
Repairs 

(2) Fire Rescue 
94/PBSO 16, (1) Firing 

Range, (2) City Hall 
5 26 N/A 

Monthly PM for Interior 
Lights 

17 Buildings 49 bulbs 143 N/A 

Monthly PM for (17) 
Buildings 
 

Includes inspection and 
replacement of A/C filters, 
flags, fire sprinkler gauges, 
battery recycling and rust 

removal from irrigation 

1 6 12 

Work Orders 
Completed 

17 Buildings 77 389 1,000 

 
5. PARKS MAINTENANCE 
 

a. Staff attended Managing Change & Accountability class. 
b. Set up and broke down for Palm Beach County League of Cities luncheon. 
c. Set up and broke down for Mayors Retirement Reception. 
d. Re-sodded Rambo Park. 
 

ACTIVITY QUANTITY 
03/01/17 – 
03/31/17 

FISCAL 
YEAR TO 

DATE 

FY2017 
BUDGET 

Mowing Public Building 
Grounds 

11.7 acres 3 15 36 

Mowing of Parks’ 
Grounds 

66.5  acres 2 15 40 

Mowing of Sports Turf 15 acres 9 56 90 

Athletic Fields (11) 
Maintained and 
Prepped 

Ballfield, Soccer, 
Football 

65 430 N/A 



Page 4 of 4 

ACTIVITY QUANTITY 
03/01/17 – 
03/31/17 

FISCAL 
YEAR TO 

DATE 

FY2017 
BUDGET 

Athletic Courts (26) 
Maintained 

Tennis, Basketball, 
Racquetball, 

Shuffleboard, Volleyball 
6 42 N/A 

Parks and Buildings 
Litter Removal 

92 acres 19 87 N/A 

Playground Areas 
Maintained (15) 

N/A 13 72 N/A 

Parks and Playground 
Safety Inspections 

15 Playground areas,  
13 Parks, 11 Athletic 

Fields, & 9 Public 
Buildings 

1 6 12 

 
6. DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS WORK SQUAD  
 

a. Assisted Parks Division with removal of concrete at Friends Park. 
 

ACTIVITY COMMENTS 
03/01/17 – 
03/31/17 

FISCAL 
YEAR TO 

DATE 

FY2017 
BUDGET 

Parks Litter Removal 13 Parks 4 7 N/A 

Landscape 
maintenance 

Freedom Park 2 11 N/A 

Landscape 
maintenance 

Community Park 2 7 N/A 

Landscape 
maintenance 

CARES 1 1 N/A 

Landscape 
maintenance 

Municipal Complex 2 9 N/A 

Landscape 
maintenance 

Rambo Park 1 2 N/A 

Landscape 
maintenance 

Veterans Park 1 3 N/A 

Landscape 
maintenance 

Ira Van Bullock 1 2 N/A 

Landscape 
maintenance 

Community Center 1 1 N/A 

Work Squad Total 
Hours Worked 

3 inmates for 1 day, 
4 inmates for 4 days, 
5 inmates for 9 days, 
6 inmates for 1 day 

392.5 2199.5 
Estimated 
5,500 hr/yr 

 


	4-17-17 Agenda
	5.A.1 2017_04_Anderson Thelusme Appplication District IV w out SSN
	5.A.2 Council Memo (D-4 seat)
	5.B.1  Presidential Volunteer Service Awards
	5.D.1 Certificate of Appreciation - Jeremy Campbell
	5.E.1 PBSO District 16 Monthly - February 2017
	6.A.1 04-03-17 Council Minutes-Draft
	6.A.2 Proclamation Afterschool Appreciation Week
	6.A.3.1 Res 2017-23 Release of Liens
	6.A.3.2 Res 2017-23 Release of Liens List Exhibit A
	6.A.3.3 Res 2017-23 Release of Liens Cover Memo
	7.A.1 Ord. 2017-07 Amending Ch 7 Health Sanitation and Nuisance
	7.A.2 Ord. 2017-07 Exhibit 1 Agreement
	7.A.3 Ord. 2017-07 Council Memo
	7.B.1 Ordinance 2017-08 CC Salaries
	7.B.2 Ord 2017-08 201704JS1.02 Council Memo re salary
	7.C.1 Res 2017-20 PBC Youth Services Division RFP
	7.C.2 Res 2017-20 Exhibit A
	7.C.3 Res 2017-20 Exhibit B
	7.C.4 Res 2017-20 Exhibit C
	7.C.5 Res 2017-20 Memo FY17 YSD RFP
	7.D.1 2017-22 Renaming of Community Park
	7.D.2 201704JA1.03 Agenda-Renaming of Community Park
	10.A.1 Building Department Report
	10.A.2 Finance Dept Report
	10.A.3 LS Report
	TO:  Andrea McCue, City Manager
	FY 2017 BUDGET
	 FY 2017
	SPONSORS/
	ACTIVITY
	PARTNERS

	10.A.4 P&E Dept Report
	10.A.5 Fire Rescue Report
	10.A.6 Public Works Report



